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Strategic report

UMV Global Foods Holding Company Ltd together with its subsidiaries (‘the Group'} is a leading international
branded shacks and caonfectionary business, which manufactures and markets some of the world's best
known and loved sweet and savoury brands. The Group is part of pladis, one of the warld's leading snacking
companies and the proud steward of more than 300 years' baking and confectionery heritage. The Group's
brands have been satisfying consumers for generations and include: McVitie's Digestives, Verkade, Carr's,
B8N, McVitie's Jaffa Cakes, McVitie's Penguin, Jacob’s Mini Cheddars, go ahead!, Jacob’s Twiglets, Sultana,
Flipz and Turties.

The Group is the leading manufacturer and marketer of biscuits and savoury snacks in the UK and also
manufactures and markets biscuils, savoury snacks and chacolate under popular local brands in France,
USA, the Netherlands, Nigeria and India. The Group's brands are sald in more than 100 countries around the
world, with strong consumer bases across Europe, North America, Africa, Middle East, India, Asia and
Australia.

The ultimate parent of the Group is Yildiz Holding A.S. (Yildiz Holding). Yildiz Holding is one of Turkey's
largest and longest established congolomerate groups with operations in 3 key sectors {Confectionery, Foad
and Retait) and is currently the largest brand food group in CEEMEA, with more than 300 brands in 48
categories. It is the ultimate owner of the iconic brands Ulker, McVitie's and Godiva.

During 2016 Yildiz Holding brought together its core biscuit and confectionery husinesses (in Food, Drug and
Mass retail channel) under the umbrella of 'pladis’.
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Strategic report (continued)

Market and Industry Overview

in recent years, consumer demand for food products has been strongly influenced by frends towards
snacking and out-of-home eating rather than a more traditional three-meals-a~-day eating pattern. Consumers
now demand convenience foads, including biscuits and snacks products that offer more variety, are healthier
alternatives and provide greater portability and conveniance. Thease trends are expected to continue.

in developed markais, the Group’s retail customers are generaltly seeking branded products that consumers
know and trust and that will deliver them high turnover. The Group is meeting this need with a wide range of
classic products, new product development and promotions to keep store displays fresh and make the
biscuits category appealing. In developing markets, reliable praduct quality and the ability to meet key local
price points are important considerations.

During 2022, due to global supply constraints and exacerbated by the war in Ukraine, the Group faced

unprecedented inflation across its cost base with prices of many of its key inputs being affected by global
markets, including wheat, palm oil, cocoa, sugar, gas, electricity and packaging.

During 2021, the Covid-19 pandemic continued to have a very significant impact on consumers, businesses
and society. Across 2020 and 2021 in all countries the Group cperates in, food manufacturers and retailers
had to adapt quickly {o the reality of Covid-19 and redesign supply chains accordingly.

Overarching current consumer trends include convenience, healthier snacking, value and products that are
produced by responsible corporations in a sustainable manner. The Group continues to pursue an active
programme of new and existing product develepment, as well as promotional investments that respond to
these trends and investment in its manufacturing sites to increase productivity and flexibility. The Group
invests in its brands through innovation, improved quality and media engagement with consumers.

Geographically, the Group is well positioned to graw in large, established markets, which it believes will
continue to grow in the medium to long term, as well as growing its market positions in higher-growth
emerging markets.

Qur Strategic Framework

The Group’s strategic objectives are aligned with those of pladis, of which the Group is part. The Compete to
Win strategic framework was implemented in 2020 and comprises four strategic pillars to unlock the potential
of our business through our people and our brands:

1. Innovate today to Fuel tomorrow — a focus on the Consumer

Leveraging its wide portfolio of brands and consurner insights, pladis seeks to deliver products to meet key
consumption moments with industry-leading, cross-category innovations.

The Group continues to make brand investment, including in respect of new product development, brand and
packaging innovation, while huilding brand and product platferms that are aligned and provide scale.
2. Own the Streets — a focus on the Customer

pladis is focussed on making its brands the first cholce for consumers. It is committed to exceptional sales
and distribution service levels and being the supplier of choice to the {rade with the right product range at the
right price.

The Group has long-sianding relationships with key customers and its priority is to deliver impeccable in-
store execution by building on shopper insights.

3. Make Every Penny Count — a focus on Cost and Cash

pladis is commitied to growing gross and operating margins by streamlining supply chain costs to generate
cash to invest in its business, brands and pecple.

The Group is committed to maintaining its focus an efficiency improvements, waste reduction, cost reduction
and capital efficiency to enable investment in its brands and people.

4. Win as One pladis — a focus on Culture

pladis is a unique, differentiated and vibrant organisation with a culture that energises and motivates its
people.

The Group |s focussed on building the capabilities of its people fo ensure it can Compete to Win.
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Strategic report (continued)
Performance Summary

Business overview

During 2022, guided by the Compete to Win strategy and in response to unprecedented infiation, our teams
stepped-up the pace of inhovations, executed well in the market, tocok actions to reduce our supply chain
cost base for the future, and developed our talent base.

In 2021, the Group incurred significant expenditure to maintain business continuity in the face of the ongoing
COVID pandemic, and to provide COVID secure work environments for its employees.

The Group belisves future growth will be driven by adapting to key consumer trends and by engaging hew
consumers for its products in existing and new markets.

During the year, the Group continued to invest in its brands, asset base and modernisation of its
manufacturing facilities.

The Group measures its progress against both financial and corporate responsibility measures and progress
in these areas is detailed in the following sections.

The Group's key financial performance indicators are summarised in the table below:

2022 2021

£m £m

Revenue 1,155.4 1,134.3
EBITDA' 97.6 118.3
Adjusted EBITDA? 138.0 1489.0
Net Debt® 448 4 4277
Capital Expenditure? 39.2 34.4

" EBITDA is calculaled as operating profit of £47.8m (2021: £686.6m) plus depreciation of £49.8m (2021: £51.7m).
2 Adjusted EBITDA as caloulated in the consolidated income statement on page 24.

® Net debt as calculated as gross borrowings of £640.1m (2021: £630.9m) less cash of £191.7m (2021: £203.2m).
4 As per consolidated cashflow statement on page 29.

Revenue

The Group’s revenue is predominantly derived from branded sales of sweet and savoury biscuits, baked
snacks and chocolate, with branded sales accounting for approximately 87% of total revenue.

The Group’s revenue for 2022 was £1,155.4 million {2021: £1,134.3 million) which represents an increase of
2.0% compared to the prior year.

The Group's operations comprise of three regions: UK, Northern Europe and International.

The Group is a long-standing market leader in the UK, where it manufactures and markets a wide portfolio of
sweet biscuits, savoury biscuits, savoury baked snacks and packaged cale. The Group's leading brands in
the UK include: McVitie's, Jacob’s, Carr's, McVitie's Jaffa Cakes, Penguin and go ahead!. McVitie's includes
many of olr most popular brands and receivas priority marketing and Innovation support along with a focus
an growing cur Jacob’s Savaoury brand.

The Group's branded biscuit sales in 2022 accounted for approximately 21.5% of the overall UK biscuit
market.

In recent years, the UK grocery market has been characterised by a changing retail landscape and increased
competition between established grocery retallers and the discounter channel.

in Northern Europe (France and the Netherlands), the Group holds strong challenger positions in its markets
and segments and manufactures and markels the popular, long-established BN, Sultana and Verkade
brands.

During 2022, the Group continued o increase its revenue from international markets particularly in Africa and
North America, where it manufactures and markets a range of snacking products under the De Met's Turlles
and Flipz brands and sells sweet and savoury biscuits principally under the Carrr's brand.
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Adjusted EBITDA and operating profit

Adjusted EBITDA Is the primary metric by which management measures business performance and is used
by management for the purpose of husiness decision-making and resource allocation. Adjusted EBITDA
represents the operating profit or loss from operations before taxes, financing, restructuring items (such as
redundancy costs), pension administration costs, depreciation and amartisation expense, acquisition and
disposat related costs and other significant items which the directors assess not to relate o the underlying
performance of the business due o their nature or frequency of occurrence. Adjusted EBITDA is an
alternative performance measure which is not defined or specified under the requirements of IFRS. Adjustad
EBITDA is not a substitute for ar superior to IFRS, but management believes it does provide stakeholders
with additional helpful information on the performance of the business.

In 2022 adjusted EBITDA was £138.0 million (2021: £149.0 million), this £11.0 million or 7.0% decrease was
largely due to unprecedented input cost inflation which could only be partially recovered through pricing
actions.

Capitaf expenditure

Cash investment in plant, equipment and intangibles during 2022 was £32.2 million (2021 £34.4 million), as
presented in the consolidated cashflow, and represents 3.4% of revenus (2021: 3.0%). The Group continued
o make investments to support efficiency and growth and to maintain infrastructure, health and safety and
environment across its manufacturing footprint.

Pension

The Group makes regular contributions designed to eliminate funding deficits in its UK defined benefit plans
{under recovery plans agreed as part of the schemas’ triennial valuations). In 2022, these contributions
amounted to £17.4 million. During 2021, the Group's UK defined benefit plans were closed to future accrual.

Cash available for debt servicing

Cash available for debt servicing for 2022 was £44.3 million (2021: £78.4 million). This represents the
adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditure, restructuring costs and ncn-underlying operating costs, ongoing
pension contributions in excess of amaunts charged to business profit and tax paid, and after adjusting for
changes in working capital. The decrease in cash available for debt service was due to higher spend on
restructuring and capital expenditure as we brought forward projects to support cost base reduction and
margin improvement for future years, partly offset by lower pension contributions as our largaest scheme
achieved {ull funding. The component parts of the cash available for debt servicing are presented in the
consolidated cashflow on page 28, and js explained as follows:

2022 2021
£m £m
Adjusted EBITDA 138.0 148.0
Capital expenditure (38.2) (34.4)
Cash flows relating to non-underlying and restructuring operating expenses (38.9) {14.4)
Difference between pension contributions paid and amounts recognised in
operating profit {14.3} {23.2)
(Increase)/Decrease in working capita) (0.3) 7.4
44.3 78.4

Cash available for debt servicing
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Net debt
In January 2022, the Group refinanced its Senior Bank Facilities:

* a new Senior Facilities Agreement {SFA), The facilities are unsecured and comprise a Term Fagility
of £300.0 million and a Revolving Fagility of £100.0 million. Repayment is due five years from the
date of the Agreement.

= a US private placement comprising a £300m Note Purchase Agreement (NPA). The Notes are
unsecured with a 12-year duration at a fixed rate of 2.64% and rank pari passu wilh the Senior
Facilities.

Net debt comprises senior bank loans, the note purchase agreement, finance lease obligations and other
loans less cash and cash equivalents. At the end of 2022, the net debt outstanding was £448.4 million (2021
£427.7 million).

Other movermants on financial position
The Group's nat assets increased by £21.5 million cermpared ta 2021,

Corporate Responsibility

The Group has manufacturing operations in six countries and its brands are sold worldwide. The Group
operates to high ethical and professional standards regardiess of location. Qur approach to corporate
responsibility is broad and reflects a conviction that these elements should be central to how we run the
business.

The Group Purpose is to promise happiness with every bite. Inherent to that promise is building a
sustainable business, which impacts avery element of our corporate strategy. The Group’s pricrities for
corporate responsibility are as follows:

+ looking after employee and consumers’ health and weil being;
* ensuring our people are safe, secure and happy;
«  working with the communities we operate in to give back to them as they give to us; and

+  delivering performance that protects the environment.

Ethics & Compliance

The Group believes its success is based upon every employee adhering to the Group's "Caode of Conduct’.
The Ethics and Compliance function covers people and product, safety and quality and is a key focus for our
business.

To support our pesple in this, there is a comprehensive Code of Conduct which clearly identifies how we are
all expected to behave and what action should be taken when employeas are confronted by difficult or
sensitive situations.

pladis UK&I operates a whistleblowing policy which encourages colleagues (including agency workers and
contractors) to report any circumstances of potentially unethical conduct within our organisation. In 2022, the
whistlebfowing palicy continued to be communicated to all our colleagues during the year.

Since 2018, pladis has been a member of the Farthworm Foundation, a non-profit organization collaborating
with us to deliver a raadmap for our palm ail supply chain. Earthworm has monitored pladis’ palm oil supply
chain’s compliance with pladis No Deforestation, no Peat, no Exploitation (NDPE) policy and human rights
palicy and has continyed to support pladis when engaging with tier 1 suppliers to investigate aleris related to
potential breaches of those policies.

In 2021, pladis extended the scope of its partnership with Earthworm to include cocoa products. Earthworm
has supparted pladis in the UK when engaging with tier 1 suppliers of cocoa products to collect information in
relation to their sustainabitity performance, including in the areas of traceability as well as environmental and
social stewardship,
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Earthworm published a 2022 pladis progress repart, which includes an update on pladis’ palm ol and cocoa
sustainability journey, This report is available in the ‘Disclosures’ section on pladis’ website,

As part of doing business with pladis UK&I, raw materials and packaging suppliers must become members of
the ethical due diligence platform, Sedex, and complete the self-assessment quastionnaire, which allows us
fo identify higher risk suppliers. Since 2020, pladis UK has been using the new Sedex self-audit
questionnaire as well as the risk assessment tool (RADAR) and had the tool's users trained to the new
metrics available, in arder to identify higher risk suppliers. In accordance with the UK Modern Slavery Act,
20185, pladis UK publishes a yearly statement, which outlines the steps it has taken as well as ils (uture
plans, towards ensuring the prevention of forced labour and human frafficking within its organisation and
supply chain,

In 2022, pladis also strengthened its due diligence review with suppliers identified most at risk, based on
investigations or warnings from some authorities, including the U.S. Customs and Border Protection in
relation to allegation of human rights abuses in paim oil and cocoa production, or the UK government in
relation to concerns for human rights in Xinjiang. This review first consisted of engaging with those suppliers
deemed at risk to hetter understand thelr practices. It then led to require certificates of origin whenever
applicable, and to suspend one supplier which had failed to provide salisfaclory evidence.

During 2022, pladis has continued its partnership with Minority Supplier Development UK {"MSDUK™.
MSDUK brings together innovative and high growth ethnic minority owned businesses with global
corporations committed tawards creating an inclusive and diverse supply chain.

People

The Group has a comprehensive framework of employmant policies and uphalds the rights and opportunitias
of ali people to seek, obtain and hold employmant with dignity and without any form of discriminatian. it is the
Group's policy that employees at all levels shall not in their dealings harass or discriminate against other
individuals on grounds of gender, race, nationality, religion, marital status, sexual orientation, disabllity, age
ar far any other reason whatsoever. This policy applies in respect of all conditions of employment.

As a business, we recagnise that there is an ongeing need to increase our gender balance across the
business. Currently, 37% of the Group's management workforce is female and there is a bread split of
ethnicity across the employse population. The Group will continue to focus on ensuring all members of our
diverse workforce are encouraged and supported to develop their career aspirations as well as take actions
to improve the gender balance in our organisation. The pladis Group now has a global advisory board in
place to consult on inclusion and diversity and help support pladis’ journey to create a vibrant, inclusive and
diverse workforce.

The Group operales various graduate and apprenticeship schemes and has provided summer work
placements and work experience opporiunilies to school and university students to encourage them fo
consider a career in the industry. In 2022 14 graduates and & apprentices entered the UK business, bringing
our total number of apprentices to 74. In 2022, 25 apprentices completed an apprenticeship.

The Group views human rights primarily as an extension of its determination not only to treat employees with
respect but also to obtain assurance about sthics in the supply chain. Acrass all its counfries of operation,
the Group's goal is not fo exploit anyone and the business refuses to work with any individual or organisation
that fails to uphold these standards. As part of a global business, we operate according to the pladis Code of
Conduet which captures the most important personal responsibilities expected of out employees as they go
abaut their work and provides guidance on how to deal with certain situations. The pladis Code of Conduct
requires all suppliers to adhere to this code, and also states that we will not work with suppliers who violate

human rights.

In 2020, pladis adopted a global human rights policy which has been communicated to pladis' employees,
subcontractars and suppliers. There is also a whistleblowing process in place, managed by Navex,

The Board and Senior Management are responsible for ensuring that the Group’s purpose, vision and valuss
are effectively communicated to employees and that the Group’s activities reflect the culture we wish to instill
in employees and drive approptiate behaviours. Examiples of how this is achieved include: formal and
informat meetings, 2 mandatory code of conduct, a bi-annual pulse survey, town hall meetings, dedicated
training sessions and our @Workplace social media platform. In 2021 pladis established a Diversity and
Inclusion
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Advisory Board, which includes external advisors with recognised expertise in this area, to support pladis’
journey to create a vibrant, inclusive, and diverse workforce. The advisors, who bring a wealth of experience
and a variety of perspectives, are: Dame Kelly Hoimes, Ade Adepltan MBE, Alastair Campbell and Stevie
Spring CBE. Diversity and Inclusion has been supported by events and the creation of internal, virtual,
communities to focus on raising awareness, sharing stories, and developing the workforce.

We are also proud to have been certified for the first time as a Top Employer in 2022 across both UK and
Turkey. This recoghises our strong people practices across humerous areas. At a global levei, we have
been recognised by The Stevie Awards for our practices in Performance Management and Leadership.

Environmental Highlights
Qur highlights include:
Sourcing

Palm oll

+  Since 2018, piadis has been a member of the Earthworm Foundation, a non-profit organization
coliaborating with us to deliver a sustainability roadmap for our crude palm oil as well as paim
karnels supply chains. In 2022, we have maintained our traceability back to mills at 85.1% and
started the collection of information on traceability back to palm plantations. This figure amounted to
47.4% of the total volumes supplied to pladis globally {In the UK, we had 89.8% traceability back to
mills and 91.2% traceability back to plantations).

- Based on this information, Earthworm has continued to monitor pladis’ palm oil supply chain's
compliance with pladis' Na Deforestation, no Peat, no Exploitation (NDPE) policy through:

+ intelligence coming from the Earthworm network in the production countries,
«  the review of publicly available grievance systiems,

« satellite monitoring systems for pladis’ three main tier 1 suppliers, accounting for 80% of
pladis’ palm all volumes,

and has continued to support pladis when engaging with tier 1 suppliers to investigate alerts related
to potential breaches of pladis’ NDPE policy and well as human rights policy.

Earthworm published a 2022 pladis progress report, which includes a focus on palm oil sustainability.
This report is available in the 'Disclosures' section on pladis’ website.

Finaily, following the mapping of scope 1, 2 and 3 greenhouse gas emissions in pladis UK&l's value
chain, and because palm oil production accounts for a substantial percentage of those emissions,
pladis UK&I engaged with same of its key suppliers of palm products to understand the measures
they have implemented to reduce their carbon footprint,

As part of its commiiment to the Round Table on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO)}, pladis UK&I is using
100% palm oll supporting the RSPO sustzinability program.
Cocoa

« in 2022, pladis continuad its partnership with Earthworm on sustainable cocoa products. Earthworm
published a 2022 pladis progress report, which also includes a focus on cocoa sustainability, This
report is available in the ‘Disclosures’ section on pladis’ website.

«  pladis UK&l (United Biscuits) is a member of the World Cocoa Foundation, which promotes
sustainable futures for cocoa farmers.
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Wheat

in the UK, pladis has mainlained its Back to Farm agreements which deliver sustainable long-term
supplies of wheat for over 40% of pladis UK&I's flour valumes. In 2022, Earthwarm and pladis
approached both wheat farmers’ cooperatives participating in Back to Farm to initiate a pilot on
regenerative agriculture with selected farmers. Earthworm published a 2022 pladis progress report,
which also includes a summary of this pilot.

Plastle Packaqi

In 2022, pladis UK&I pursued its efforts towards delivering its commitment, as a member of the UK
Plastics Pact, to have 100% of its plastic packaging reusable, recyclable or compostable by 2025,

In the UK, we have been working with TerraGycle since 2012. Between 2012 and Dec. 2022, 18.6
million of our wrappers have been recycled through this scheme. While this represents a small
percentage of our tatal wrappers placed on the market, when we began our relationship with
TerraCycle, there were few — if any - viable alternatives for the disposal of our plastic packaging. Our
woik with TerraCycle has therefore historically provided an option far consumers to dispose of their
flexible wrappers over this period white new technologies and solutions were heing evolved.

Since that time, some additional schemes have been developed that complement our work with
TerraCycle and provide a wider range of recycling options. These include the front of store recycling
points provided by some major UK retailers including those that are managed by the Flexible Plastic
Fund, of which pladis UK&! has been a member since 2022,

Decarbonisation

We have been purchasing 100% renewable electricity for all our UK manufacturing and office-based
sites since 2018,
In 2022, pladis started a collaboration with the Carbon Trust to map its scope 1, 2 and 3 greenhouse
gas emissions in its value chain In Tirkiye and the UK. Results for pladis UKA&/ are as follows:
+ total scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions accounted for 941,718 tons of COZe in pladis UK&l's value
chain.
+  scope 3 emissions accounted for 92% of greenhouse gas emissions in pladis UK&!'s value
chain.
« 78% of pladis UK&I's total (scope 1+2+3) emissions were product-related emissions, of
which ingredients accounted for 85%.
«  cocoa and palm ol accounted for 45% of total emissions in pladis UK&I's value chain,

Following this mapping, the Carbon Trust defined near-term science-based targets, combined for our
value chain in Tlrkiye and the UK. Those targets will require a 42% decrease in our scope 1 and 2
emissions by 2030 compared to 2021, and a reduction between 25% and 42% in our scope 3
emissions, depending on scenarios {well below 2°C. vs. 1.5°C. in temperature increase}.

To reach those near-term science-based targets, the Carbon Trust has suggested roadmaps for our
husinesses in Turkiye and the UK, focusing on the reduction of scope 1 and 2 emissions, as well as
scope 3 emissions.

In March 2022, United Biscuits had its Royal Warrant renewed by the Royal Household. This was based on
saveral criteria, which included an in-depth review of the company's sustainabillly and Corporate Social

Responsibility practices.
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Health and Nutrition

The Nutrition team has active work streams to improve the nutritional value of some of our iconic and best-
selling biscuits and snacks, as well as setting nutritional guidelines for all new product development. Nutrition
education is & focus for the Group and we want to help consumers achieve a balanced, healthy lifestyle. A
key part of this is ensuring employees and consumers understand the attributes of a healthy balanced diet
and how to incorporate snacks into their diet responsibly.

The Group is fully engaged in supporting the Office for Health Improvement and Disparities reformulation
programmes and committed to offering our consumers healthier choices when it comes to snacking, for
example, producis with reduced sugar, salt or saturated fat, or providing mare calorie-controlted options. We
also seek to encourage the consumption of positive nutrients and have publicly committed our support to the

Food and Drink Federation's Action on Fibre initiative.,

We want to be leaders in health and wellbeing, and nothing is sacred — except the delicious taste of our
products. Our goal is to support consumers in improving their health and nutrition. We will achieve this with:

»  Calorie caps per portion — to help consumers maderate calorie consumption;
«  Redefinition of our future portfolio — to enhance nuirition credentials; and
+  Clear nutrition information on pack and healthy eating advice on our corporate website

In 2022 in the UK we launched non-High Fat, Sugar, Sall (nHFSS8) versions of our iconic McVities Rich Tea
and McVitie's Digestives. Thase nHFSS products contain less saturated faf, sugar and salt and more fibre
when compared to the regular equivalent product. Furthermore 2 flavours of Mini Cheddars Nibblies were
launched, these are nHFSS compliant and contain 30% less saturated fat compared to other baked cheese
shacks and biscuits, We also reformulated MeVities Twiglets and Go Ahead fruit slices and fruit oat bakes to
meet nHFSS criteria, whilst still maintaining the same great taste our consumers are used to.

In France, Mini BN Chocolate, strawberry and Casse Croute now have reduced saturated fat (5 — 20%),
reduced salt {10 — 30%) and increased fibre (20 — 30%).

in our International business, Nigeria relaunched their Nice biscult to include 15% sorghum in the flour blend.
Sorghumis a local grain with high availability and a higher fibre and nutrient content.

Community Engagement

pladis' "Good to Give" programme has been running since 2009, pladis and its employees continue 1o donate
through local fundraising in communities and charities in 2022, With covid restrictions still impacting the
ability of our employeas lo donale their volunieering time, we focused our efforts on donations and raising
money throughout the year for a number of local charities in each one of our regions.

In the UK, we fundraised for our official charity partner Startight, which aims to brighten the lives of seriously
ill children. We supported Starlight corporate challenges as well as donating products for family day trips and
weekends away. We also celebrated our annual Make Happy, Be Happy Day where our employees raise
funds through fundraising activities across all sites in all regions. In the UK we raised ovar £4,000 for
Startight which the UK&! business maiched in funds. We also raised over £3,000 in fundraising activities
across our manufacturing sites, facused on regional charity partners with connections to the local cammunity.

In addition, in the UK, we continue to donate any surplus product through a partner erganisation, in Kind
Direct. We continue to build our relationship with Grocery Aid providing opportunities to give back and
support our communities.

Methods of fundraising were varied, and included raffles, sponsored activittes and cake baking sales.
Employees all across the business raised money for national fundraising events, through sponsored runs
and activities and dress down days. In addition to raising money, employees zalsc take fime out to help in
their local community through a one-day Volunteering Day, such as decorating garden areas in local schools
and nurseries and wrapping Christmas presents for underprivitegad families. Many of our sites also support
their local schools and colleges by offering careers advice, short term work experience and mentoring
partnerships such as Girls Out Loud.
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Principal risks and uncertainties
The Board assume overall accountability for the evaluation and management of risks to the Group.

The Group is exposed to strategic, operational and financial risk. Its financial risks are summarised, together
with the aclions taken by the Group ta mitigate any significant expasures, in Note 18 to the Financial
Statements. In addition, the Group is subject to a number of significant business risks, which it takes all
possible actions to mitigate.

These risks include the following:
Leverage and ability to service debt

The Group's level of debt requires it to dedicate a significant portion of its cash flow from operalions to its
debt service obligations. [is leveraged status could increase its vulnerability to adverse general economic
and industry conditions or to a significant business confinuity issue, limit its ability to obtain additicnal
financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or other purposes, place it at a disadvantage
relative to its competitors that have less debt and limit its flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in its
business or industry The Group closely monitors market performance and country information in the markets
it operates in and carries out extensive due diligence prior to entering a new market. The Group's largest
business unit is in the UK where it has a long-established business presence. The UK Company is a
guarantor to bank borrowings that are sublect to a financial covenant; should the financial cavenant not be
complied with, the borrowings may become due for immediate repayment, caliing into question the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, unless cured by parental support, the Company secuting
alternative funding or otherwise waived or reset by the current lenders.

Business strategy implementation

The Group’s strategy is to increase is cash flow and profitability by implementing initiatives aimed at
achieving cost savings and generating profitable branded growth. If it is unsuccessful at implementing its
strategy it may be unable to comply with its debt facilities. The Group manages and monitors, by reference ta
key performance indicators, resources allocated to the development of new products and to the research,
development and technology process functions of its business.

Significant competition

The Group operates in highly competitive markets, and its failure to compete effectively might adversely
affect the results of its operations. It competes primarily on the strength of its brands, the quality of is
products, product innovation and price. The Group’s ability to compete effectively requires continuous efforts
in sales and marketing of its existing products, developing new products and cost rationatisation. The
Group's marketing teams focus on its brands through investment in new product development, brand re-
launches and frequently refreshes its consumer marketing campaigns and promations ta maintain consumer
engagement.

Dependence on raw materials

The Group’s ability to pass increases in raw materials and energy costs on to its customers could adversely
affect the results of its operations. Many of its raw materials and energy costs are volatile and supplies are
affected by government policies, the actions of its suppliers, currency movements, political upheavals and
acts of God. Consequently, unexpected increzses in raw material and energy costs or a material or
prolonged supply disruption could adversely affect the results of its operations. The Group operates a
commodity risk management framework to seek to manage supply and cost in a specified timeframe through
forward purchases and the use of derivative instruments for certain key raw materials.

The Covid-19 pandemic and the war in Ukraine caused significant disruption and inflationary pressure on
global supply chains. Our procurement, operational and technical teams continue to focus on supply
confinuity and minimising the impact of inflation as far as possible.
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Strategic report {(continued)

Continual evolution of retaiters

The ongoing evolution of the retalt food industry could adversely affect the Group’s operating results. Such
evolution involves the cansolidation of sales channels, sirong bargaining power of the major grocery
retailers, intensified price compstition among these retailers and the rapid growth of the discount retail
channe! and the accelerated expansion of eCommerce due to the Covid-19 pandemic. The Group's top
customers are primarily major grocery retzailers, discounters, independent grocers and convenience stores in
the UK, the US and Furope. It has long-standing arrangements with many of its custemers and agrees
annual joint business plans with its top customers to support its positian.

Supply and manufacturing processes

Product quality and safety issues may result in damage to the reputation of the Group's brands and the
termination of agreements or licences to operate one or more of its brands and may affect its relationship
with the company's customaers, Additionally, the failure of any aspect of the Group's operational infrastructure
could cause significant disruption to the Group’s abilify to supply products to its customers. The Group has
product quality and safety control measures and processes in place to maintain the high quality of our
preducts supplied. In addition, it runs a programme of investment in its preduction and distribution facilities
to deveiop its infrastructure and support its growth and operational flexibility. The Group also canies genaral
insurance cover and cover in relation to product liability.

Challenges to brands and intelfectual property rights

Some of the Group’s intellectual property rights could be challenged or lapse. As approximately 87% of its
sales are from branded products this could adversely affect the Group’s results. The Group pratects its
intellectual property rights by taking advantage of a combination of palent, frademark, copyright and trade
secret laws in various countries, as well as licensing agreements, third party nendisclosure and assignment
agreements and policing of third-party misuses of its intellectual property.

Resfrictions on operations

The Group's debt facilities contain significant restrictions limiting its flexibility in operating its business
including, among other things, to borrow money; pay dividends or make other distributions and make asset
dispositions. These could materially and adversely affect the Group's ability to finance its future operations or
capital needs or to sngage in other business activities that may be in the Group’s best interest. Such
restrictions will reduce as the Group’s leverage falls.

Funding defined benefit pension schemes

The Group operates defined benefit pension arrangements in the UK that have significant liabilities to
current, previous and retired employees. To take advantage of the higher returns that equities and certain
ather investments have historically ganerated, a proportion of the pension plan funds are invested in such
assets. This investment strategy carries the risk that a decline in values could increase the funding deficit in
the schemes, which may require it to increase its contributions. The Group warks with Trustees of the
pension funds to agree future investment and funding strategies.

Changes to taxation or other government regulation

Changes in fiscal legislation and regulation in the various jurisdictions in which the Group operates may
affect the taxes that it pays. In addition, Government bodies in the company's markets have been pursuing
various initiatives aimed at increasing health and reducing the incidence of diseases that are seen to be
tinked fo diet and reducing environmental impacts. The actions that government badies may take could have
an adverse effect on consumer demand for the Group's products.

Climate Change

Physical and fransition climate change risks including water stress and increased regulation, as well as
inability to meet sustainability goals, could reduce the Group's revenues and profits. These risks could also
impact trust and reputation amongst consumers, investars and other stakeholders.
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Strategic report {continued)

The Group's regulatory and legal teams monitor and ensure compliance with all refevant legislation and
regulations and where appropriate work closely with external advisars and the regulators, government bodies
and refevant trade associalivns regaiding cuirent and future legislation which would impact upon the
business.

The Group alsc face significant risks and uncertainties that are common to many companies operating in
global markets — including financial and treasury risks, infarmation security and cyber risks, reputational and
husiness continuity risks.

Additional risks not prasently known to the Group, or that management currently deem immaterial, may also
impair future business operations.

Section 172(1) statement

Section 172 of the Companies Act 2008 requires a director of a company ta act in the way he or she
cansiders, in good faith, would most likely promote the success of the company for the benefit of its
members as a whole but having regard to a range of different matters.

In doing this sectinn 172 reqiires diractors to have regard to, amongst other matters, the:
* likely consequances of any decisions in the long-term;
» interests of the company's employees;
+ need fo foster the company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;
* impact of the company's operations on the community and environment;
+ desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and

* need to act fairly as between members of the company.

As an intermediate holding company, board mestings are heid as necessary wherae the directors consider the
Company's aclivities and make decisions. As a part of those meetings the directors receive information on
section 172 matters when making relevant decisions. In making our decisions we considered a range of
factars, including our section 172 duties as set out above,

Employee engagement

As the principal aclivity of the Company is to act as a holding company, the Company had no employees
during the period and &s such the breadth of employee and other considerations that would often apply in
operating or commercial trading companies have generally not applied to the decisions made by the
directors. The employees of the Group are employed by the Group's operating entities. For UK employees,
the relevant employee engagement statement is included in lhe directors' reporl of United Biscuits (UK}
Limited.

Fostering business relationships

As the principal activity of the Company is to act as a holding company for the other entities in the pladis
group, the Company has had no commercial business, and no employees, customers or suppliers other than
other pladis group companigs during the period and as such the breadth of stakeholder and other
considerations that would often apply in operating or commercial trading companies have generally not
applied to the decisions made by the directors., Our siakeholder engagement best takes place at an
operational level. We find that as well a being a more efficient and effective approach, this also helps us
achieve a greater positive impact on environmental, social and other issues. For details cn some of the
engagement that takes place at an operational level in the UK, please refer to the section 172(1) statement
contained in the direcfors’ report of our operaling company, United Biscuits (UK) Limited.
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This report was approved by the board of directors on 27 April 2623 and signed on its baehalf by:

Ahmed Salman Amin

Directaor

27 April 2023
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Directors’ report

The directars present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of UMV Global
Foads Holding Cempany Ltd (the ‘Company’) together with its subsidiaries ('the Group’) for the year ended
31 December 2022.

The directors have chosen, in accordance with section 414C{11) of Companies Act 2006, to include such
matters of strategic impartance to the Group in the Strategic Report which otherwise would be required to be
disclosed in the Directors’ Report,

Dividends
No dividends have been paid or proposed in the current year or prior year.

Principal activities, going concern and future developments
The Group's business activities and performance against its key performance indicators and likely future
developments are set out in the Sirategic Framework section of the Strategic Report.

The financial positicn of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities are described on
pages 26 and 29 and Notes 17 and 18 to the financial statements. In addition, Notes 17 and 18 to the
financial statements includes the Group's objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its
financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and it
axposures to credit risk, commodity risk and liquidity risk.

The Group intends to continue manufacturing and selling biscuit and savoury snacks with a principal focus
on its key financial performance indicators and delivering ifs strategic objectives as detailed in the Strategic
Report.

The Group is weli placed to manage its business risis successfuily despite the current uncertain sconomic
outlook.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the directors are satisfied that the
Group has adequate financial resources to continug its operations for the foreseeable future. In making this
statemeant, the Group's directors have reviewed the Group budget and available finance facitities and have
made such other enquirtes, as they considered appropriate.

Directors
The directors of the company who weare in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial
statements were;

Murat Ulker

Richard Handscombe

Simon Edward Munir

Ahmed Salman Amin {appainted 19 January 2022)

Qualifying third party indemnity provision

During the year and till the time of signing of this report, the company continues to maintain Directors and
Officers Liability Insurance to indemnify the company's directors against any liability ineurred in the course of
their office to the extent permitted by law.
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Directors’ report (continued)

Employment Policies :

The Group has a comprehensive framework of emplayment policies. The Group upholds the rights and
opportunities of all people to seek, obtain and hold employment with dignity and witheut any form of
discrimination. It is the Group's policy that employees at ail levels shall not in their dealings harass or
discriminate against other individuals on grounds of gender, race natianality, religion, marital status, sexual
arlentation, disability, age or for any other reason whatsoever. This policy applies in respect of alt conditions
af employment, aspecially hiring, continuing employment and career development information. Wa regularly
communicate and consult with employees or their representatives on a regular basis so that the views of
employees can be taken inio account in making decisions, which are likely to affect their interests.
Employees are systematlically provided with information on matters that may concern them and are made
aware of the financial and economic factors affecting the Group’s perfermance. Performance bonuses for
employees are based on individual and company-wide performance systems.

Research & Development

The goal is for the technical teams to support our branded growth goals by driving value creation through
optimised product delivery aligned to and supporting the Group’s strategic objeclives, See Note 6 far details.

Stakeholder Reporting
For information on stakeholder reporting please refer to the Section 172(1) statement in the Sfrategic Report.

Governance Reporting

For information on governance repcriing please refer to page 7 in the financial statements of United Biscuits
(UK) Limited.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

Following the introduction of the new SECR (streamlined energy and carbon reporting) regulations in April
2018, we have detailed our scope 1,2 & 3 UK greenhouse gas emissions for the petiod 1 January to
31 December 2022 in the table below
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Directors’ report {continued)

UK Energy and carbon emissions repoerting rr:len;tsgje 2022 2021

Energy consumption used to calculate emissions - for

gas, electricity*, transport and business travel kWh 330,832,484 362,475,946
Yy p

emissions

Srape 1 - emissions from gas, fleet transport and 1C02e AT 7R3 51,979 *

company car business trave!

Scope 2 - emissions from purchased electricity” - tcO2e 14,726 18,090

location based

Scope 3 - emissions from staff vehicles used for 1CO2e 143 689

business purposes

Total gross emissions tCO2e 62,652 70,138

Intensily ratiu -~ (ICO2e per production tonnage - tCO2elton 0.180 0178

location based

Market based emissions nit of 2022 2021
Scope 2 - emissions from purchased electricity* - tCO2e . - -
market based

Lrggggity ratio - tCO2e per production tannage - market  ~oonon 0.137 0.132

*100% renewable electricity

Quantification and reporting methodology

We have followed the 2020 HM Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines. We have also used the
GHG Reporting Protocal -~ Corporate Standard and have used the 2022 UK Government's Conversion
Factors for Company Reporting. Energy data is obtained from meter readings, fleet fuel data from vehicle
telemetry system and business mileage from expenses system.

The chosen infensity measurernent ratio is the recommended rafio for our sector.

For 2022 reporting and 2021 camparatives we have made an amendment 1o our fleet transport emission
reporting to include only usage from our own fleet and not hired fleet.

Measures taken to improve energy efficiency

In 2022, pladis commissionad a third-party to carry out the value chain mapping of its scope 1, 2 and 3
greenhouse gas emissions in the UK to undertake some valug chain emissions mapping and recommend
some near-ferm science-based reduction targets.

To reach those near-term science-based targets they suggested roadmaps, based on exisiing ESOS (Energy
Savings Opportunity Scheme) audits, for pladis UK&Fs scope 1 and 2 emissions. pladis is currently
raviewing those roadmaps with our supply chain and procurement teams,

Alongside this, our manufacturing team has developad specific plans for energy reduction projects 1o ba
implemented in 2023 in relation to human element energy saving activities {process/temperature controls),
air leak reduction, roof insulation and energy efficient ighting.
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Directors’ report {(continued)

We conlinue to participate in the Department for Transport Longer Semi-Traller rial (ends 2024} which aims
to reduce the number of journeys via higher capacity vehicles.

The group has been purchasing 100% renewable electricity since April 2018.
Disclosure of information to the Auditors

The Directors who were members of the board at the time of approving the directors’ report arg listed on
page 15.

The directors canfirm that, in the case of each person who is a director at the time when the directors’ report
is approved, as far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are
unaware and that directors have taken all steps that ought to have been taken to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that information.

This information is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the
Companies Act 20086.

Independent auditors
A resolution to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company's auditors will be put to the
forthcoming Annual General Mesting.

This report was approved by the board of directors on 27 April 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Ahmed Salman Amin

Director

27 April 2023

Registered office: Building 3 Chiswick Park, 566 Chiswick High Road, Chiswick, W4 5YA.

18




LMY GLOBAL FOODS HOLDING COMPANY LTH Annual Report

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial
statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
the directors have prepared the group financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards and the company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Arrepted Acoounting Practice (Unlted Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced
Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law).

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and company and of the profit or loss of the group
and company for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are reqguired to:

+  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

+ stats whether applicable UK-adopted international accounting standards have been followed for the
group financial statements and United Kingdem Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 have
been followed for the company financial statements, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements;

*  make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

+ prepare the financial statements on the going concemn basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the group and company wiit continue in business,

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting recards that are sufficient to show and
expiain the group's and company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the group and company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006.
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of UMV Global Foods Holding
Company Ltd.

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion:

» UMV Global Foods Holding Company Ltd.’s consolidated financial statements and parent company financial statemants
(the "financial statements") give a true and fair view of the state of the group's and of the parent company's affairs as at
31 December 2022 and of the group’s and parent company’s ioss and the group's cash flows for the year then endad;

+ the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards;

« the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 107 "Reduced Disclosure

Framework”, and applicabie law); and
* the financial staternents have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 20086,

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the consolidated and parent
company balance sheets as at 31 December 2022; the consolidated and parent company income statements, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity,
and the consolidated cash fiow slatement for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include
a description of the significant accounting policies,

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“1SAs (UK)") and appiicable faw. Gur
responsibilities under ISAs (UK} are further describad in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and apprapriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the group in accordanca with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfiled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Basad on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually ar collectively, may cast significant dolbt on the graup's and the parent company’s ability ta continue as a going
concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

in auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going cancern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate,
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Howevar, hecause not all future events ar nanditions can be predicted, this conclusion is nef a guarantee as 1o the group's
and the parent company's ability o continue as a going concern.

Our responsihiiiies and the responsibifites of the directors with respect fo going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

Reporting on other information

The othar information cemprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the ether information. Cur opinian on the financial statements does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we de not express an audit opinion or, excepl to the exient otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance therean,

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our respensibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information Is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or ctherwise appears to be materially misstated. if we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required fo perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial
statemenls or a material misstatement of the other information, If, based on the werk we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based
on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2008 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 reguires us also to report certain opinions
and matters as described balow.

Strategic report and Directors' report
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the informaticn given in the Strategic report and
Diractors' report for the year ended 31 December 2022 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and parent company and their enviranmeni oblained in the course
of the audit, we did not identify any materal misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors' report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities in Respect of the Financial Statements, the directors
are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accerdance with the applicable framework and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 1o fraud
or ercor.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are respensible for assessing the group’s and tha parent company’s ability
to confinue as a going concern, disclesing, as applicable, malters refated to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditars’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our abjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial staternents as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due te fraud or errot, and 1o issue an audifors’ report that incitdes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect
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a materiaf misstatement when it exists. Misstaternents can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individuatly
or in the aggregate, they coukd reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to defect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud, The extent
to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and
regulations related to food safely, foed labelling, health and safety and workplace, and we considered the extent to which
non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered these laws and regulations that
have a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006, income taxes, value added taxes and
payrall taxes. We ewvaluated management's incentives and opporlunities for fraudulent maniputation of the financial
statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting of
fraudulent journal entries in order to overstate revenues or to conceal the misappropriation of cash and cash equivalents.
Audit procedures performed by the engagemant team included;

« performing inquiries of management to delermine if they were aware of any frauds, zalleged frauds or noen-compliance
with laws or regulations;

= inspecting minutes of meetings of the Board of Directers to determine if there were any discussions involving frauds or
alleged frauds, or non-compliance with laws and regulations;

= performing testing of journal entries and this involved spacifically searching the journal ledger for entries that initially
appeared to us to contain unusual account combinations and that had the impact of Increasing revenue, decreasing cash
and cash equivalents, or decreasing accounts payabie. We aiso searched the journal ledger to determine if any journal
entries had been posted directly by the company's directors or if there were any unusual words appearing in the journal
entry descriptions;

s performing certain procedures on an unprediclable basis including testing business expenses claimed by employees far
reimbursement, performing revenue analytics and testing journal entries posted on weekends.

There are inharent limitations in the augit procedures described above. We are less ikely to become aware of instances of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely refated to events and transactions reflected in the financiat
statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a malerial misstaternent due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting ohe
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliverate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations,
or through collusion.

A further description of our respansibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.frc.org.Uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors' repert.

Use of this report

This repor, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the parent company’s members as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2008 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these
opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpese or to any other persan to whom this report is shown or info
whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Other required reporling

Companies Act 2008 exception reporting
Under the Companias Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

e we have not obtained all the information and expianations we require for our audit; or

« adequate accounting records have nat been kept by the parent company, or returns adeguate for our audit have not been
received from hranches not visited by us; or

* certain disclosures of directers' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

* the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceplions to report arising from this responsibility.

%2

David Beer (Senfor Statutory Auditor}

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Staiutory Auditers

Watford
28 April 2023
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UMV GLOBAL FOODS HOLDING COMPANY LTD

Consglidated Financial Statemeants

Consolidated income statement

For year ended 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021
£m £m

Revenue 3 1,155.4 1,134.3
Cost of goods sold {(787.2) (748.2)
Gross profit 368.2 386.1
Distribution, selling and marketing expenses (167.5) (202.2)
General and administrative expenses (118,9) (92.3)
Operating profit before non-underlying and restructuring
operating items 81.8 91.6
Operating profit before non-underlying and reétructuring
operating items is comprised as follows:
Adjusted EBITDA 138.0 149.0
Pension administration expense 21 (6.4) (6.7}
Depreciation and amortisation expense 6 (49.8) {51.7)
Non-underlying and restructuring operating items 5 (34.0} {25.0}
Operating profit 6 47.8 66.6
Loss from the disposal of businesses and subsidiaries 4 - (2.9)
Interest receivable and other financial income 7 4.1 7.9
interest payable and other financial charges 8 {50.3) (53.0)
Other finance expense — pensions 21 {1.G) (1.8)
Profit before tax 0.8 16.8
Tax 9 {9.8) (74.4)
Loss for the year {8.2) {57.8)

All amounts relate to conlinuing activities.

The notes on pages 30 - 86 form an integral pant of these financial statements.
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UMV GLOBAL FOODS HOLDING COMPANY LTD Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021
£m £m

Loss for the year (9.2} (67.6)
ftems not to be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Revaluation of property (8.9) 15.2
Remeasurement of net defined benefit pension plan liability 21 56.7 67.7
Deferred tax on items not to be reclassified subsequently to
loss or profit 9 {12.0) (13.5)
Total items not to be reclassified subsequently to profit
orloss 35.8 69.4
items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or
0ss
Gain on cash flow hedges arising during the year 4.0 13.9
Transfer of gain on cash flow hedges to income statement (20.0) (4.0}
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 12.0 {18.4)
Befarred tax an items that may be reclassified subseguently
to profit or loss 9 {(1.1) 2.2
Total items that may be reclassifled subsequently to
profit or loss {5.1) (6.3)
Other comprehensive income for the year after tax 30.7 63.1
Total comprehensive income for the year after tax 215 55

The notes on pages 30 - 86 form an integral pari of thess financial stalements.



UMV GLOB_A_L FOODS HOLDING COMPANY LTD Consolidated Financial Stalements
Consolidated balance sheet

As at 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021
£m £m

ASSETS
Non-current asseis
intangible assets 10 1,840.2 1,836.3
Property, plant and equipment 11 367.3 382.0
Total non-current assets 2.207.5 2,218.3
Current assets
Inventories 13 79.0 7.8
Trade and other receivables 14 179.3 164.9
Derivative financial instruments 18 7.5 3.3
Cash and cash equivalents 15 191.7 203.2
Total current assets 457.5 438,2
TOTAL ASSETS 2,665.0 2.657.5
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholder's equity
Share capital 20 1,200.0 1,200.0
Share premium 20 91.5 g1.5
Other reserves 20 {36.3) {24.5)
Accumulated loss (167.4) (200.7}
Total equity 1,087.8 1,066.3
Non-current liabilities
Baorrowings 17 618.4 35.4
Amount due fo parent company 23 263.9 257.3
Ratirement benefit liability 21 5.1 75.0
Other payables 0.4 0.5
Provisions 19 8.7 57
Deferred tax 9 268.4 2461
Total non-current liabilities 1,163.9 620.0
Current liahilities
Borrawings 17 20.7 595.5
Trade and ather payables 16 378.7 352.8
Derivative financial instruments 18 3.1 0.6
Provisions 19 9.8 22.3
Total current liabilities 413.3 a71.2
Total liabilities 1,677.2 1,591.2
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2.665.0 2,657.5

The notes on pages 30 ~ 86 form an integral part of these financial statements,

The consolidated financial statements of UMV Global Foods Holding Company Ltd (registered number:
9289015) on pages 24 to 86 were approved by the Board and signed on its behalf on 27 April 2023,

S SR
Ahmed Salman Amin

Director
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Consclidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Currency Properties

Share Share Transiation Revaluation Hedging Accumuiated Total
Capital Premium Reserve Reserve Reserves loss  Equity
£m £m £m £m fm £m £m
At 1 January 2042 1,200.0 91.5 (61.7) 23.8 13.4 (200.7) 1,066,3
Comprehensive
{expense)/income
in the year, net of
tax effects:
Loss for the year - - - - - (9.2) 9.2}
Revaluation of
property - - - (B.7) - - {(6.7)
Re-measurement
gain on defined
benefit pension
plans net of tax - - - - - 42.5 425
Exchange difference
on translation of
fureign operations - - 10.9 - - - 10.8
MNet loss on cash
flow hedges (Note
18) - - - - {16.0) -~ (16.0)
Totai comprehensive
income/({expense) for
the year - - 10.9 (8.7) {16.0) 33.3 21.5
At 31 December
2022 1,200.0 91.5 {50.8) 17.1 (2.6) (167.4) 1,087.8
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 Decemher 2021

At 1 January 2021
Comprehensive
{expense}/incaome
In the year, net of
tax effects:

Loss for the year

Revaluation of
praperty

Re-measurement
gain on defined
benefit pension
plans net of tax

Exchange difference
on franslation of
foreign operations

Net gain on cash
flow hedges {Note
18)

Total comprehensive
{(expense)/income for

the year

At 31 December
2021

Currency Properties

Total

Share Share Translation Revaluation Hedging Accumulated
Capital Premium Reserve Reserve Reserves loss  Equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
1,200.0 91.5 (45.5) 12.4 3.5 (201.1) 1,060.8
- - - - - (57.6) (57.8)
- - - 11.4 - - 11.4
- - - - - 58,0 58.0
- - (16.2) - - - (16.2)
- - - - 9.9 - 9.9
- - (16.2) 1.4 9.9 0.4 55
1,200.0 91,5 (61.7) 23.8 13.4 (200.7) 1,066.3

The notes on pages 30 — 86 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated cash fiow statement

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Note(s) 2022 2021
£m £m
Opaerating activities
Operating profit 47.0 GG.G
Adjustments for:
Depreclation and amortization 6,10,11 49.8 51.7
Non-underlying and restructuring operating expenses 5 27.3 25.0
Impairment 6.7 -
Pensions costs 4.0 8.1
Accrued management fees 5.0 2.9
Cash flows related to commadity related financial derivatives (14.1) (6.7)
Cash flows relating to non-underlying and restructuring
operating expenses {39.9) (14.4}
Psnsian payments, including deficit contributions {18.3) {37.3)
68.3 95.9
{increasedecrease in inventories (8.9) 10.1
(Increase)/decrease in receivables {11.4) 28.2
increase/(decrease) in payables 20.0 (30.9)
Cash generated from operations 68.0 103.3
Interest paid (27.0) (30.8)
Income taxes paid {1.0) (1.4}
Net ¢ash inflow from operating activities 40.0 71.3
Investing activities
Capital expenditure and purchases of intangible assefs 10,11 (39.2) (34.4)
Interest received 0.1 -
Net cash outflow from investing activities (39.1) (34.4)
Financing activities
Amounts paid to group companies {(22.1) {9.5)
Proceeds/(repayment) of barrowings 7.5 (13.5)
Nef cash outflow from financing activities {14.8) (23.0)
{Decrease)! Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the
year (13.7) 13.9
Currency translation differences 2.2 2.9
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 203.2 186.4
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15 191.7 203.2

The notes on pages 30 - 86 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1 Authorisation of financial statements

The financial statements of UMV Global Foods Holding Company Ltd and its subsidiaries (the "Group™ cn
page 24 — 88 for the year ended 31 December 2022 were authorised for issue by the board of directors on
27 April 2023 and the balance sheet was signed on the Board's behalf by Ahmed Saiman Amin. UMV Global
Foods Holding Cempany Lid is a private company limited by shares, registered, incorporated and demiciled
in England and Wales, United Kingdom. lis regisiared office is slated on page 18,

Z2 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006
as applicable to companies using International Financial Reporting Standards {IFRS).

Accounting polictes have been applied consistentiy.
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basts.

The censolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative
firancial instruments which have been measured at fair value and certain propetties that are measured at
revalued amaounts, Historical cast is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange
far the goods and services. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to fransfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price s directly observable or estimated using another valuation technigue.

in estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would take thase characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement purposes in these financial statements is
determined on such a basis except for leasing transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair vajue but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
IAS 2 or value in use in J1AS 36. In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs o the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

» Level 1 inpuls are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access ai the measurement date;

+ level 2 inputs are inputs, other than guated prices included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either direcily or indirectly; and

+ Level 3inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
Unless the context indicates otherwise, “2022" means year ended 31 December 2022.

The censolidated financial statements are presented in pounds sterfing because that is the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the Company operates and alf references to "sterling” or "£” are to
the lawful currency of the United Kingdom. All values are rounded lo the nearest one hundred thousand
pounds, except where otherwise indicated,

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below,
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

Statement of compliance

The Group's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted internationat
accounting standards and with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of UMV Global Foods Holding
Company Limited and its subsidiaries made up ta the same accounting reference date each year
Subsidigriea arc fully consolidated from the date of aoguisition, boing the date on which the Croup obtains
control, and will continue to be consalidated until the date that such control ceases, Control is achieved when

the Company:
+ has power over the investee;

+ iz exposed, or has rights, to a variable return from its involvement with the investee; and
+ has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Inira-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulling from intra-group
fransactions are eliminated on consolidation. The Company's subsidiaries are listed in Note 12 to the
financial statements.

Significant accounting judgements, estimates, and assumptions

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements in accordance with UK adopted international accounting
standards requires the use of judgements, estimates and assumplions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabllities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported revenuss and expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates
are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, ultimately actual resuits may
differ from those estimates.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance
sheet date that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment tc the carrying amounts of assets and
liabifities within the next financial year arise in connection with the possible impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets, the measurement of defined benefit pension obligations, and promotional accruais,

Judgements

Goodwill and intangible assets impakrmert review — The Group determinaes whether goadwilt and indefinite
life intangible assets are impaired on at least an annual basis and this requires an estimation of the value in
use of the cash generating units to which the intangible assets are allocated. Considerable management
judgement Is necessary to identify cash generaling units, estimate discounted future cash flows and apply a
suitable discount rate. Further details are given in Note 10,

Defined benefit pension obfigations — The cost of pension benefit plans and post-retirement healthcare
benefits is determined using actuarial valuations. The minimum funding requirement under IFRIC 14 which
results in an additional liability of £159.8 million is a judgement applied by the Group which stems from the
interpretation of the plan rules of the pension schemes. The interpretation and implementation of the asset
ceiling is a further judgement applied by the Group. Further details about the assumptions used are given in
Note 21,

Estimates

Defined henefit pension ohligations — The cost of pension benefit plans and posi-retirement healthcare
benefits is determined using actuarial valuations. This involves making assumptions about future changes in
salaries, future pension increases, mortality rates and discount rates. Due to the long-term nature of these
plans, considerable management judgement s necessary and estimates are subject {o significant
uncertainty.

Promotional accruals — The Group accrues for trade discounts and other allowances against agreed
promational activity. Such accruals are subject to a number of variables, e.g. redemption rates and
anlicipated volumes, and are sensitive to small changes in these variables. These costs are accrued using
best estimates using cumuiative experience to estimate the provision for discounts, using the most likely
amaunt method; revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable a significant reversal will
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

not aceur. The actual costs may not be known until subsequent years when negotiations with customers are
concluded and actual data is available,

Changes in accrual estimates are recorded through the income statement. Management considers this
estimation uncertainty to be an area of judgement that is significant due to the volume of such transactions. A
promotional accrual of £25.7m (2021: £32.8m) is included within trade payables.

Revenue

The Group's only significant revenue stream is the sale of products to third parties at amounts invaiced net of
trade discounts and rebates, exciuding sales related taxes. Trade discounts include sales incentives, up-front
payments and other non-discretionary payments. Display and feature costs are deducted from revenue in the
financial statements. Revenue is recognised when control of the products being sold has transferred to our
customer and when there are no longer any unfulfliled obligations to the customer. This is generally on
delivery to the customer but depending on individual customer terms, this can be at the time of dispatch,
delivery or upon formal customer acceptance. This is considered the appropriate point where the
perfermance obligations in our contracts are satisfied as the Company no longer has control over the
inventories. Typically, once the Group issues an invoice to the customer, cash is collected within a period of
45 days. At each balance sheet date any expenditure incurred, but not yet invoiced in relation to trade
discounts and other ailowances, is estimated and accrued and deductaed from revenue. Revenue also
includes royalty income from licences associated with the Group’s brands.

Royalties are earned from the use of the Company's brands by third parties, Royalty revenue is recognised
on an accruals basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement. Royalties determined on a
non-usage basis are recognised on a straight-line basis over the periad of the agreement as the revenue is
contractad at a fixed price on an annual basis and the Group is giving access over the use of the brand
rather than granting control of it. Rayalty arrangements that are usage based such as on production, sales
and other measures are recognised on the later of:

a) the subsequent sale or usage occurs; and

b) the performance obligation to which some or all of the sales-based or usage-based rayalty has

been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied)

Revenue also includes income from a distribution contract. Such revenue is recognised on a monthly
accruals basis and is based on the volume of dsliveries.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time proportionate basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which s the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA is the primary measure by which management measures business performance and is
used by management for the purpose of business decision-making and rescurce allocation. Adjusted
EBITDA represents the operating profit or loss from operations before taxes, financing, restructuring items
(such as redundancy cosis), pension administration costs, depreciation and amortisation expense,
acquisition and disposal refated costs and other significant items which the directors assess not to relate to
the underlying performance of the business due to their nature or frequency of occurrence. Adjusted EBITDA
is an alternative performance measure which is not defined or specified under the requirements of IFRS.
Adjusted EBITDA is not a substitute for or superior to IFRS measures, but management believes it does
provide stakehalders with additional helpful infarmation on the perfoarmance of the business.

Non-underlying and restructuring operating items

The Group presents as non-underlying and restructuring operating items those items of income and expense
which, in the opinion of the Directors, because of their nature merit separate presentation to enable users of
the financial statements to better understand the elements of financial performance in the period, to facilitate
comparison with prior periods and to assess trends in financial performance more easily.

Non-underilying expenses include charges arising from curtailment events and other projects affecting the
Group's pension schemes, uninsured caosts arising from natural disasters, charges for impairment of plant,

32



UMV GLOBAL FOODS HOLDING COMPANY LTD Congolidated Financial Statements

2 Accounting policies (continued)

squipment, intangible assats, profits and losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment, costs
assoclated with acquisitions and disposals (both completed and aborted) and costs associated with major
ERP upgrades which do not qualify for capitalisation.

Restructuring costs are costs that are incremental to casts the Group would ctherwise incur in relation to its
normal operations. Principally, they are costs associated with projects implemented to improve efficiency of
the Group’s operations, integrate acquisitions, restructure departments or reduce the cost base of the
business. Far nxample, redundancy costs resulting from the closure or integration of a business or part of a
business; costs directly associated with implementing improved ways of working and costs of product recalfs.

Costs associated with an activity that meets the definition of restructuring and other non-underlying expenses
are charged to the income statement at the point the Group is committed to incurring those costs.

Faralgn currencies

The individual financial statements of each group company are presented in the currency of the primary
econamic environment in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated
financial statements, the results and financial position of each group company are expressed in sterling,
which is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated finangcial
statements.

Transactions in foreign currencies arc initialiy recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional
currency spot rates af the date the transaction first quatifies for recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recagnised in profit or loss with the exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the
hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit
or foss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also
recorded in other comprehensive incoms.

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost In a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions and are not retransiated.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustmenis ta the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilittes arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
cperation and translated at the spot rate of exchange at the reporting date. Exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into sterfing at the exchange rate
prevailing at the balance sheet date. income and expense items are {ranslated into sterling at the average
rates for the year.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of opening net assets of Group companies, together with
differences arising from the translation of the net results at average or actual rates {0 the exchange rate
prevailing at the balance shest date, are taken to other comprehensive income and accurnulated in equity
(attributed to non-confrolling interests as apprepriate). On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred
accumulatad amaurt recognised in other campratiensive income relating to that particular foreign operation
is reclassified to tha income statement.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations, including entities that are subject to common control, are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred,
measured at the acquisition date fair value. Acquisiion costs are expensed whean incurred. Goodwill is
initiafly measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the acquisition date fair value of the
consideration fransferred and the amount recognised for the non-cantroiling interest over the identifiable
amounts of the assels acquired and liabilities assumed in exchange of the business combination. Goodwill
represents consideration paid by the Group in anticipaticn of future economic benefits from assets that are
not capable of being individually identified and separately recognised.
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If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusied during the measurement period, or additional assets or
liahilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of
the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date,

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
subject to an annual impairment review or more frequently when events or changes in circumstances
indicate any impairment may exist.

On disposal of a cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of
the profit or lass on disposal.

Other intangible assets

On acquisition, the Group recognises any separately idenfifiable intangible assets separately from goodwill,
initially measuring the intangible assets at fair value at the date of acquisition. Fallowing initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed o be either indefinite or finite. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives, as determined by the Group's Board of Birectors, are not amortised but are subject to
an impairment review on an annual basis or more frequently when evenis or changes in circumstances
indicate any impairment may exist. Purchased brands are deemed to have indefinite lives when there is
proven longevity of the brand and continued marketing support is envisaged,

intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over their useful lives. The carrying value of intangible
assets with a finite life is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may not be recoverabie. Any impairment is charged to the Income statement in the period
it arises.

The Group capitalises computer software at cost and also capitalises software based on costs incurred
whare certain specific criteria are met. Computer software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life, up to 5 years.

Advertising and promotional costs

Advertising and promoetional costs are charged to the income statement in the period in which the Group
either received the service or had the right to access the related goods.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment excluding freehold land and buiidings is stated at cost less depreciation and
provision for impairment where appropriate,

Freehold land and buildings are stated in the balance sheet at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at
the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciaticn and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses. Revaluations are perfarmed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does
not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair values at the balance sheet date.

Revaluations of freehold [and and bhuildings are carried out by an external expert and classified as level 2 fair
values as they are based on market price indices and observable transactions involving assets of a similar
nature,

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is credited to the properties
revaluation reserve, except fo the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset
previously recognised as an expense, in which case the increase is credited to the income statement to the
extent of the decrease previously expensed. A decrease in carrying amount arising on the revaluation of
such land and buildings is charged as an expense to the extent that it exceeds the batance, if any, held in the
properfies revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.
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Depreciation on revalued buildings is charged to income. On the subsequent sale or scrappage of a revalued
property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the properties’ revaluation reserve is fransferred
directly to accumulated loss.

Freehold land is nat depreciated.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis based on the cost or valuation less residual value of assets
over lhelr expected useful lives. Rates of depreciation applied are as follows:

Land and buildings 1.5 — 2% p.a.

Leasehold improvements 1.5 — 2% p.a or avet the life of the lease
Plant, machinery and vehicles 3.0-20.0% p.a.

Fixtures and fittings 10.0 - 33.0% p.a.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciaticn method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets under construction are capitalised but are not depreciated untit such time as they are available for
use,

Technical stores consist of spare parts and other items for the repair and maintenance cof plant and
equipment. Major spare parts (costing more than £1,000) are recorded as assets under construction until
such time as they are brought into use. All other purchases are expensed.

Property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumsatances indicate
the carrying vajue may be impaired. Any impairment is charged fo the income statement in the period in
which it arises. Useful lives and residual values of assets are reviewed annually.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill arising on business combinations is allocated to the groups of cash-generating units {equivalent to
the Group’s business units as described in Note 10). The racoverable amount of the cash-generating units to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. if the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is jess than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allacated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

Previous impairments of goodwill are not reversed at a later date.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment and intangible asseis with finite lives are reviewed for
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may be impaired. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is aestimated in order to determine the extent of
impairment loss.

Where purchased intangible assets are considered by the Baard of Directors to have an indefinite useful fife,
they are not amortised but are subject to an impairment review on an annual basis or more frequently if
necessary. intangible assets not vet available for use, for example, computer software under development,
are tested for impairment annually.

An impairment review is performed by comparing the carrying value of the properiy, plant and equipment or
intangible asset or gaodwill with its recoverable amount, the recoverable amount being the higher of the fair
value of the asset less costs to sell and the asset's value in use, An asset's fair value less costs to sell is the
amount that could he obtained on disposal of the asset. The value in use is datermined by discounting, using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
spedific to the asset, the expected future cash flows resulting from its continued use, including those on final
disposal. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement immediately.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recaverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs. Considerable management judgement is
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necessary to estimate discounted future cash flows. Accordingly, actual cash flows could vary considerably
from forecast cash flows.

impairment reversals are permitted to property, plant and equipment or intangible assets (but not to gocdwill)
only to the extent that the new carrying value doas not exceed the amount it would have been had no
impairment loss been previously recognised.

Leases

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 January 2019, the Company considers whether a contract
is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an
asset (the underlying asset) for a periad of time in exchange for consideration’.

To apply this definition the Company assesses whather the contract meets three key evaluations which are
whether:

+ the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly
specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Company

+ the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract

» ihe Cormnpany has the right to direct the use of the identified assst throughout the period of use. The
Company assess whether it has the right to direct 'hew and for what purpose’ the asset is used
throughout the period of use.

Initial measurement of the right-of-use assetf:
The cost of the right-of-use asset shall comprise:

+  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; and

+ an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Company in dismantting and remcving the underlying
asset, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. The Company incurs the obligation for those costs either at the commencement date or
because of having used the underlying asset during a particular period.

Initial measurement of lease liability;

At the commencement date, the lease payments included in the measurement of the lease [iability comprize
the fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable, for the right to use the underlying asset during the
lease term that are not paid at the commencement date.

Subsequent measurement of the right-of-use asset;

The Company as a lessee shall measure the right-of-use asset at cost by subtracting any accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses; and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability.

The Group does not have any extension ar purchase options on its leases.
Subsequent measwrement and reassessment of the lease liability:

After the commencement date, the Company shail remeasure the lease liability to reflect changes to the
lease paymenis. The Company shall recognize the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an
adjustment to the right-of-use asset. The Company shall remeasure the lease liabllity by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate, if either:

» interest on the lease liability; and

« any material amendment within the scope of lease contract,
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The Company shall remeasure the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments when there is a
change in the cash flows (i.e. when the adjustment to tha lease payments takes effect). The Company shail
determine the revised lease payments for the remainder of the lease term based on the revised contractual
paymenis.

The Company has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-uUse asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to
these are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

in the statement of financial position, right-of-use assets have been included in property, plant and
equipment. Finance lease liabilities have been disclosed separately.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value. The cost of products
manufactured by the Group comprises direct material and labour casts together with appropriate factory
overheads. The cost of raw materials and goods for resale is determined on a first-in, first-out basis, Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred to
compietion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution,

Financial assets - initial recognition and measurement
The Group classifies its financial assets into the following measurement categories:

- those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or
through prefit or loss); and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

This classification depends on our husiness model for managing the financial asset and the contractual
terms of the cash flows. At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value pius, in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair vaiue
through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. All of the Group’s financial assets {except cash} are debt
instruments that provide the Group with a contractual right to receive cash or ancther asset.

Financial assets - subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of the Group's financial assets {except cash)} depends on the Group’s
business madel for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories that debt instruments are classified as:

. amortised cost;
. financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income; or
. financlal assets at fair value through profit or loss.

i.  Amortised cost - assets measured at amortised cost are those which are held to collect cash flows on
the repayment of principal or interest. A gain or loss on a financial asset recognised at amortised cost
on de-recognition or impairment is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest income is recognised within
finance income using the effective interest rate method.

ii. Fair value through other comprehensive income - assets that are held at fair value through other
comprehensive income are those that are held to collect cash flows on the repayment of principal and
interast or which are held to recognise a capital gain through the sale of the asset. Movements in the
carrying amount are recognised in other camprehensive income except fur the recagnition of
impairment, interest income and fareign exchange gains or losses which are recognised in prafit or
loss. On de-recognition, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss. Interest income is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method.
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iii, Fair value through profit or loss - assets that do not meet the criteria for eitner amortised cost or fair
value through other comprehensive income are measured as fair value through profit or loss. Related
transaction costs are expensed as incurred. Unless they form part of a hedging relationship, these
assefs are held at fair value, with changes being recognised in the income statement. Interest income
from these assets is included within finance income.

Financlal assets - impairment

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses ("ECL"} on trade receivables, other
receivables and amounts due from related patties. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date fo
reflact changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, other receivables and amounts due from
related parties. The ECL on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group's historical cradit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the recejvable, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at
the reporiing date.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECLs that will result from all passible default events ovar the expected life of a
financial instrument.

The Group writes off a financial assel when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospecl of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand with any qualifying
financial institutions, less overdrafts from any qualifying institution repayable on demand.

Borrowings

Borrowings are inifially recognised at fair value, which is represented by the amount of net proceeds received
including any premium on issue and after deduction of issue costs. Barrowings are subsequently stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield
basis. Any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expecied life of
the financiat liability, or where appropriate a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial ability.

The Group derecegnises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s abligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity

An equity instrument |8 any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Taxes

Current tax is based on the results for the period as adjusted for non-assessable or disallowed items. Itis
calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance

sheet date,
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Deferrad tax Is accounted for in respsct of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except in respect of investmaents in
subsidiaries where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable fhat the temporary difference will nat reverse in the foreseeable fulure. Additicnally, where the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or initial recagnition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the @me of the transaction affects neilher
accounting profit nor taxable profit (or loss), deferred tax is not recognised.

Deferrad tax assets are recognised to the extent that it Is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Their carrying amount is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it s no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset {o be recovered.

Where deferred {ax assets and liabilities arise in the samae jurisdiction and are expected to reverse in a
similar period they are presented on a net hasis

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods
in which the asset or liability is realised based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates te
items charged or credited in other comprehensive incame, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in
ather comprehensive income.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that woutd follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

The Group’s main post-retirement arrangements are in the United Kingdom and are of the defined benefit
type, for which contributions are paid into separately administered funds. The Group’s U.K. definad benefit
pians are closed to future accruals and membership of defined contribution plans is available for employees.
The Group also provides additional post-retirement benefits to certain senior managers in the United
Kingdom and post-retirement healthcare benefits in the Netherlands, both of which are unfunded. The cost of
providing benefils under the defined henefit plans is determined separately for each plan using the projected
unit credit method, which attributes entitlement fo benefits {o prior periods (to determine the present value of
the defined benefit obligation) and is based on actuarial advice. The net interest ccst on scheme assets and
liabiliies is recognised within the Consolidated Income Statement. When a setllemen! (eliminating al)
obligations for benefits already accrued) or a curtailment (reducing future obligations as a result of a material
reduction in the scheme membership or a reduction in future entittement) occurs the obligation and related
plan assets are re-measured using current actuarial assumptions and the resultant gain or loss is recagnised
in the Consalidated Income Statement during the period in which the settlement or curtailment oceurs. Re-
measurement gains and losses are recognised in full In the consolidated statement of other comprehensive
fncome in the period in which they ogcur.

The Group recognises a surplus in schemes only through a reduction in future contributions or where a right
to a refund exists. Where the payment in relation to a minimum funding requirement creates a surplus (on an
IAS 19R basis) recognised on the basis of a potential refund, the tax an this refund is deemed 1o be an
income tax and consequently no provision is recognised.

Confribufions fo defined confribution pfans are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or ioss in
the period in which they are payable,

Provisions

In the normat course of business the Group is involved in certain disputes. Provision for contingent Habilities
is made when the Group has a present obligation {legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it Is
deemed probable that an adverse cuicome will coour and the amount of the loss can be reasonably
estimated. [f the effect is material, expected future cash flows are discounted using & current! pre-tax rate
that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where the Group is the plaintiff in pursuing
claims against third parties, legal and associated expenses are charged to the income staterment as incurred.
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The racognition of provisions for disputes is subject to a degree of estimation. In making its estimates
management takes into account the advice of internal and external legal counsel. Provisions are reviewsd
regularly and amounts updated where necessary to reflect developments in the disputes., The uliimate
liability may differ from the amount provided depending on the outcome of court proceedings and settlement
neggctiations or if investigations bring to light new facts.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The Group uses certain derivative financial instruments for the purpose of hedging foreign exchange and
commedity price risks, Hedges of foreign exchange risk or firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow
hedges. The Group also holds interest rate swap derivative financial instrumenis that no fonger qualify for
hedge accounting.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging
instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management abjectives and its straiegy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an angoeing basis, the Group
decuments whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of
the hedged item aftributable to the hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the
following hedge effectiveness requirements:

+  there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;

+  the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic
relationship; and

« the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from fhe quantity of the
hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity
actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but
the risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts
the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge} so that it meats the qualiifying crileria
again,

The carrying values of recagnised assets and labiitties that are designated as hedged items in fair value
hedges that would otherwise be carried at amortised cost, are adjusted to record changes in the fair values
attributable to the risks that are being hedged in effective hedge relationships.

Hedge accounting is applied where derivative financial instruments are measwred to have been highly
effective in offsetting the changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged items. Derivatives outside a
hedging relationship are recorded at fair value at the balance sheet date with any gains or losses being
recognised in the income statement,

fa}  Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other qualifying hedging instruments that
are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of hedging reserve, limitad to the cumutative change in fair value of the
hedged item from inception of the hedge. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in profit or loss and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ lina item.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to
profit or loss in the periods when the hadged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised
hedged item. However, when the hedged forecast transaction resuits in the recognition of a non-financial
asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive incame
and accumulated in equity are removed from eguity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the
non-financial asset
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or non-financial liability. This transfer does not affect other compreheansive income. Furthermore, if the Group
expects that some or alt of the ioss accumulated in other comprehensive income will not be recovered in the
future, that amount is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship {or a part thereof) ceases to
meet the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively,
Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time remains
in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a
forecast transaction is no lenger expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equily I8 recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

(b)  Fair value hedges

The fair value change on gualifying hedging instruments is recognised in profit or loss except when the
hedging instrument hedges an equity instrument designated at fair value through cther comprehensive
income {"FVTOCI") in which case it is racognised in other comprehensive income.

The carrying amaunt of a hedged item not already measured at fair value is adjusted for the fair value
change attributable to the hedged risk with a corresponding entry in profit or joss. For debt instruments
measured at FVTOCI, the carrying amount is not adjusted as it is already at fair value, but the hedging gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss instead of other comprehensive income.

Where hedging gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss, they are recognised in the same line as the
hedged item.

The Group discontinues hadge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to
meet the qualifying criterfa (after rebalancing, if appiicable). This includes instances when the hedging
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively.
The fair value adjustment fc the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is
amortised to profit or loss from that date.

Adoption of new and revised Standards

Amendments to IFR3s and the new Interpretation that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied a number of new IFRSs issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (|ASB) and amendmenis to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period
that begins on or after 1 January 2021, Their adoption has not had any material impact on the disclosures or
on the amounts reported in these financial statements.
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Property, Plant and The amendment to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (PP&E) prohibits an entity

Fquipment: Proceeds before  from deducting fram the cost of an item of PP&E any proceads received from selling

intended use — Amendments  items proguced while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use. [t also

to 1AS 16 clarifies that an entity is 'testing whether the asset is functioning praperly’ when it
assessaes technical and physical performance of the asset, The financiat performance
of the asset is not relevant to this assessment. Entities must disclose separately the
amounts of proceeds and costs relating ta items produced that are not an output of
the entity's ordinary activities.

These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial stateaments of the
Group. The Group intends to use the practical expedients in future periods if they
become applicable,

Reference to the Conceptual  Minor amendments were made to IFRS 3 Business Combinations {o update the

Framework — Amendments to  references to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting and to add an

IFRS 3 exception for the recognition of liabllities and contingent liabilities within the scope of
IAS 37 Pravisions, Contingent Liabilities and Centingent Assets and Interpretation 21
{evies. The amendments also confirm that contingent asseis should not be
recagnised at the acquisition date.

These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial stateaments of the
Group. The Group intends to use the practical expedients in fulure periods if they
hecome applicable,

Oneraus Contracts — Cast of  The amendment t6 JAS 37 clarifias that the direct costs of fulfilling a contract include

Fulfiling a2 Contract both the Incremental casts of fulfiling the contract and an altocation of other costs

Amendments to IAS 37 directly related to fulfilling contracts. Before recognising a separate provision for an
cnerous contract, the entily recagnises any impairment loss that has occurred on
assets used in fulfilling the contract,

These amendments had no impact on the consclidatad financial statements of the
Group. The Group intends to use the practical expedients in future pericds if they
become applicable.

Annual Improvements ta IFRS  The following improvements were finalised in May 2020
Standards 2018 —2020 + IFRS g Financial Instruments — clarifies which fees should be inciuded in the
10% test for derecognition of financial liabilities.
» IFRS 18 Leases — amendment of illustrative example 13 to remove the
ilustration of payments from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements, to
remove any confusion about the treatment of lease incentives.
 IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards —
allows entitias that have measured their assets and liabilittes at carrying amounts
recorded in their parent's books to also measure any cumulative translation
differences using the amounts raported by lhe parent. This amendment will also
apply to associates and joinf ventures that have taken the same [FRS 1
exemption.
IAS 41 Agriculture — removal of the requirement for entities fo exclude cash fiows for
taxation when measuring fair value under IAS 41. This amendment is infended to
align with the requirement in the standard to discount cash flows on a post-tax basis.

These amendments had no material impact on the consalidated fingncial statements
of the Group. The Group intends to use the practical expedients in future periods if
they become applicable.

New standards and interpretations and Standards issued but not yet effective

The following are new pronouncements or amendments to standards which were issued as at 31 December
2022 but are not yet effective and which are relevant to the Group.
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Effective for accounting
periads beginning on ar after

IFRS 17 insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
IAS 1 (amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current 1 January 2023
iAS 8 (amendments) Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023
IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Disclosure of Accounling Policies 1 January 2023

Statement 2 (amendments)

IAS 12 (amendments) Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 1 January 2023
from a Single Transaction

The directors do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material impact on the
financial statements of the Group in future periods.
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The Group has one significant revenue stream, being the sale of sweet and savoury biscuits and baked

bagged snacks, all of which arises under sustomer contracts.

Revenue from customer contracts by geographical area

2021

£m
765.7
368.6

1,134.3

2021

£m
1,103.7
30.68

2022

£m

United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland 756.0
Rest of World 398.4
1,155.4

Timing of revenue recognition

2022
£m

Point in time (primarily sale of goods) 1.121.4
Over time {primarily distribution income) ] 34.0
11554

1,134.3

The aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are (partially)

unsatisfied at the balance sheet date is nil.

4 Business combinations and divestments

Irish Biscults {N.l.} Limited

On 30 April 2021, the Group sold Irish Biscuits (N.1.) Limited to a third party for & nominal vaiue of £1.

Cash proceeds
Less: costs of disposal
Net proceeds

Less: assets disposed of
- Goodwil

- PPE

Loss on disposal

2021
£m

2.6
0.3

{2.9)
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Total
£m
2022
Restructuring costs ! 27.3
Other non-underlying costs 6.7
Non-underlying and restructuring operating items 34.0
Total
£m
2021
Restructuring costs 25.1
Other non-underlying costs (G.1)
Neon-underlying and restructuring cperating items 250

M Represents amounts due to or paid to employees for severance costs and other expenses in connection

with restructuring activities. The Group expects to utilise the provisions associated with these expenses
within the next 12 months.
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2022 2021
£m £m
Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation and amortisation expense:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 43.9 47.8
Amortisatioh of computer software o 5.8 3.9
T 498 517
The depreciation and amortisation expense by function was as follows: o
Cost of goods sold 30.0 31.6
Distribution, selling and marketing expenses 8.0 8.1 !
General and administrative expenses 10.8 12.0
49.8 517
Operating lease rentals:
Property 0.5 0.1
Plant and equipment 0.5 0.5
I 06
Net foreign exchange (gain)loss (0.6) 0.1 :
Shareholder fees 5.0 2.9 |
Preduct research and development 7.0 7.4
Advertising expenditure ‘ 8.4 18.4
Staff costs and directors’ emoluments
Gross wages and salaries, holiday pay and sick pay 207.5 188.9
Social security costs 22,7 19.4
Pension costs o 17.1 17.7
2473 226.0 i

Directors’ emolumentst"

M All of the directors are remunerated by the Yildiz Group for their advisory services, which includes
their directorships of the Company but which is not separately determinable from other services
provided to the Yildiz Group. For the year ended 31 December 2022 amounts totalling £5.0m (2021:
£2.9m} were payable by UMV Global Foods Holding Company Ltd to Yidiz Holding A.S. in respect
of shareholder foes (provision of corporate governance services, including associated directors’
services). [t is not practical to separately identify the directors’ remuneration element of this charge.
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The average monthly number of emplayees during the year was as follows:

2022 2021
No. Na
Manufacturing and production 4,348 4,002
Logistics and site service 665 701
Sales, marketing and administration - 713 767
5,724 6,360

The Group paid the following amounts fo its auditors in respect of their audit of the Group’s financial
statements and for other services pravided to the Group:

2022 2021
£m £m

Fees payable to the company's auditors for the audit of the company’s and
its subsidiaries’ annual financial statements 0.6 0.5

No material additicnal fees were paid to the Company's auditors for services other than those listed above.

7 Interest receivable and other financial income

2022 2021
£m £m
Interest income on bank deposits 0.4 0.3
interest receivable from fellow group companies {0.4) -
Fair value movement swaps 4.0 7.6
Foreign exchange gain on borrowings 2.1 -
4.1 7.9
8 Interest payable and other financial charges
2022 2021
£m £m
Senior Facility and Note Purchase Agresments 27.2 30.9
Interest payable to fellow group company 20.9 17.9
Foreign exchange loss on borrowings 0.8 1.1
Finance lease costs 1.4 1.6
Other financial chargaes - 1.5
503 530
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Tax is charged in the income statement as follows:

Current income tax

UK corporation lax

Foreign tax

Adjustments relating to prior years
Total current income tax

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Changes in the corporation tax rate

Adjustments relating to prior years

Total deferred tax

Tax charge in the income statement

Consalidated Financial Siatements

Tax relating to items credited fo other comprehensive income is as follows:

Deferred tax

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Tax on defined benefit pension plan remeasurements

Tax on revaluation of property

ftems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Tax on foreign exchange movements on brands

Tax credit in the statement of comprehensive income

2022 2021

£m £fm

{1.2) {0.4)
] (12) (04
{8.3) (13.6)

- (57.4)
{0.3) ___ﬁﬂ)_
_ 86 G40
{(9.8) {74.4)

2022 2021

£m £m

{14.2) {9.7)
22 (38

(12.0) (13.5)
{1.1) 22

(1.1} 22
(13) (11.3)
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Reconciliation of the total tax charge

The tax charge in the income statement is reconciled below:

2022 2021

£m £m

Profit before taxation U.b 16.8
Tax charge at the statutory rate of 19% {2021: 19%) (0.1) {3.2)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 6.7) (2.4)
Group relief 2.1 {1.9)
Adjustments relating to prior years {0.3) (3.0}
Effect of ovarseas tax rates (0.7) (5.2)
Loss carried farward for which no deferred tax asset was recognised (4.1) {(1.1)
Taxes losses utilised for which no deferred tax asset was recognised - (0.2)
Changes in the tax rate - (57.4)
Tax charge in the income statement (9.8) {74.4)

fn the Finance Bill 2021, which was enacted on 24 May 2021, it was anncunced that the corporation tax rate
would increase ta 28% from 1 April 2023. The deferred tax assels are therefore calculated at a rate of 25%
as they are expected to reverse after 1 April 2023,

In the Dutch Government Gazette published on 28 December 2018, it was announced that the corporate
income tax rate in the Netherlands will decrease from 25% to 22.55% in 2020 and 20.5% in 2021.
Accordingly, a rate of 20.5% has been applied to deferred tax assets and {labilities in the Netherlands.

Pursuant to the action plan released by the French Prime Minister in Septermnber 2017, the French CIT rate
cutis will decrease from 28% to 26.5% in 2021 and 25% in 2022. Accordingly, a rate of 25% has been applied
ta deferred tax assets and liabilities in France.

Unrecognised tax losses

A deferred tax asset of approximately £246.8 million {2021: £238.3 million) has not heen recognised on tax
losses arising predominantly in India and the US and capital losses arising in the United Kingdom at
31 December 2022, as it is not anticipated that any of these losses will be able 1o be offset against profits
arising in the foreseeable future or before they expire.
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Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets

Decelerated capital allowances

Pensions and retirement healthcare benefits
Other short-term temporary differences
Losses carried forward

Deferred tax asset

Deferred tax liahility

Intangible assets

Other short-term tempoerary differences
Deferred tax Kability

Net deferred tax liability

Reflected in the balance sheet as follows:
Deferred tax liability

Deferrad tax in the income statement
Accelerated capital allowancas

Other short term temporary differences
Pensions and retirement healthcare bengfits
Prior year adjustment

Changes in the corporation tax rate

Temporary differences associated with group investments

At 31 Dacember 2022, there was no recognised deferred tax liability for taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings of the Group's subsidiaries as the Group has determined that these undistributed profits
will not be distributed in the near future. Overseas dividends received are exempt from UK corporation tax
but may be subject to withholding tax. There are no temporary differences associated with investments in

2022 2021

£m £m

34.4 40.0

2.2 19.6

- 0.4

18.7 214
553 gl4
321.3 319.5

2.4 8.0

323.7 327.5

268.4 246.1

268.4 246.1

T 2684 2461
(6.5) (6.5)

1.5 .

(3.3) (7.1

(0.3) (3.0

- (57.4)

(8.6) (74.0)

subsidiaries for which a deferred tax liability has not been recognised but for which a tax liability may arise.
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Cost

At 4 January 2022
Additions

Exchange adjustments
At 31 December 2022

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment

At 1 January 2022

Amortisation charge for the ysar
Exchange adjusiments

At 31 December 2022
Carrying value

At 31 December 2022

At 1 January 2021
Additions

Disposals

Transfers

Exchange adjustments
At 31 December 2021

Accumulated amortisation
and impairment

At 1 January 2021

Amartisation charge for the year
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2024

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2021

Purchased Customer Computer
Goodwill Brands relationships Software Total
£m £m £m £m £m
AN0.G 1.333.3 19.4 20.8 1,8974.1
- - - 0.2 0.2
(0.5) 4.1 6.6 0.6 10.8
6001 1,337.4 26.0 216 1,985.1
{125.0) - (5.0) (7.8) (137.8)
- - (3.5) (z2.4} (5.9}
- - ©7) _(05) (1.2)
{125.0) - {9.2) (10.7) (144.9)
475.1 1,3374 16.8 10.9 1,840.2
Purchased Customer Computer
Goodwili Brands relationships Software Total
£m £m £m £m £m
605.1 1,340.4 19.4 19.8 1,984.7
- - - 5.0 5.0
(2.6) - - - (2.8)
- - - (3.8) (3.8)
{1.9) (7.1 - (0.2) (9.2)
6006 1,333.3 19.4 20.8 1,074.1
(125.0) . (1.9) (7.2) (134.1)
- - (3.1) (0.8) (3.9)
- - - 0.2 0.2
{125.0) - (5.0} (7.8) (137.8)
475.6 1,333.3 14.4 13.0 1,836.3

The amortisation charge for computer software is reflected in the general and administrative expenses line of

the income statement,
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10 Intangible assets (continued)

The Group manufactures and markets a wide range of products under well-recognised brands including
MeVitie's, Penguin, go Ahead!, McVitie’s Jaffa Cakes, Jacob’s, Jacob's Cream Crackers, Carr’s, Twiglets,
BN, Verkade, Sultana, Mini Cheddars, Flipz and Turtles.

All purchased brands have been deemed fo have indefinite useful lives as the Group believes that the value
of these brands is maintained indefinitely. The factors that result in the indefinite useful lives of brands

capitaiised are:
- The Group expects to hold and support these brands for an indefinite period.

«  The Group supports these brands through spending on consumer marketing and makes significant
investment in promotional support.

- The hrands operate in stable, large and profitable market sectors in which they have established
market shares.

There are also no material legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic or other factors that limit the
useful {ife of these intangibles.

Purchased brands are therefore not subject to amortisation but are tested at least annually for impairment.
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives

Goodwill and brands acquired through business combinations have been allocated for impairment purposes
to the following three business units:

< UK
« International
*«  Northern Europe

These operating segments represent the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill and other intangible
assets are monitored for internal management.

UK

The recoverable amount of the UK. business unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets and forecasts approved by management covering a
five-year period. The post-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 7.6% (2021: 6.1%),
which is equivalent to & pre-tax WACC of 10.2% (2021: 8.1%). A short-term EBITDA growth rate of 3.4% to
5.4% (2021: 1.7%) was applied far each year modelled. A long-term EBITDA growth rate assumption of 1.7%
(2021: 1.7%) was applied in perpetuity.

International

The recoverable amount of the Group’s International business unit has been determined based on a value in
use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets and forecasts approved by
management covering a five-year period. The post-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was
8.7% (2021: 8.4%), which is equivalent to a pre-tax WACC of 12.1% (2021: 11.5%). Short-term EBITDA
growth rate applied ranged from (9.3)% to 10.8% (2021: ranged from 16.2% to 20.8%) for each year
modelled. A lang-term EBITDA growth rate assumption of 3.0% {2021: 3.0%) was applied in perpetuity.

Northern Europe

The recoverable amount of the Group's Northern Europe business unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets and forecasts approved by
management covering a five-year pertod, The post-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was
7.7% {(2021. 5.7%), which Is eguivalent to a pre-tax WACC of 10.3% (2021: 7.4%). Short-term EBITDA
growth rates applied ranged fram 21.6% to 44,8% (2021: (2.1)% to 2.3%) for each year modelled. A feng-
term EBITDA growth rate assumption of 2.0% (2021: 2.0%) was applied in perpetuity.
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The carrying amounts of goedwill and brands allocated to the Group's cash-generating units were as follows:

2022 2021
£m £m
Goodwill
UK 334.9 334.¢
International 109.8 109.4
Northern Europe 304 31.3
Total 4751 475.6
Brands
UK 1,241.0 1,241.0
Internationat 35.7 34.1
Narthern Europe 60.7 58.2
Total 1,337.4 1,333.3

Key assumptions applied to value in use calculations

Assumptions regarding future cash flows are based on actual results in prior periads, adjusted fo reflect
management's view of expected developments based upon market conditions. In particular, the 2020
budgeted cash flows, which form the basis for future year forecasts, were developed assuming growth in
Northern Europe, UK and international. The cash flows used are post-tax cash flows and include all income
and costs as well as an estimate of maintenance capital expenditure required to support these cash flows.

The calculation of vaiue in use for the UK, Northern Furope and International business units is most sensitive
to the foltowing assumptions:

«  Discount rates — these reflect management's assessment of the time value of money and the risks

specific to the unit's assets, based on an appropriate Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC)

anticipated for a market participant investing in the Group and determined using the Capital Asset
Pricing Model, reflecting management's estimate of the specific risk profile associated with the cash

fiow projections.

«  EBITDA growth rafes — estimates are based on management's expectations of growth in the market
where each cash-generating unit is located. The business units operate predominantly in stable,
large and profitable market sectors where the Group’s brands have proven longevity. Short-term
forecasts are adjusted to reflect the Group's performance in the relevant market, be it growing or
reducing.

Sensitivity to chartges in assumptions

Managemaent believes that no reasonably possible changs in any of the above key assumptions would cause
the recoverable amount to be less than the carrying value for its UK or International cash generating units.

If the recoverable value of its Northern Europe cash generating unit were to decrease by £20.6 million it
waould be below its carrying value, The change in assumptions required for this to happen would be either an
increase in the discount rate of 0.9 percentage points or a decrease in the terminal year EBITDA projection

of £1.6 miflion.
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11 Property, plant and equipment

Plant, Assets
Land & Leasehold Machinery Fixtures & Under
Buildings {improvement & Vehicles Fittings Construction Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2022 181.8 7.5 3587.3 10.7 34,6 591.9
Revaluation {8.9) - - - - (8.9)
Additions 0.6 0.5 8.0 0.9 29.0 39.0
Transfers 0.5 0.2 9.7 0.2 (10.6) -
Disposals {0.1) (0.1} (3.4) - - (3.8)
Exchange adjustments 3.3 0.3 11.0 0.3 0.4 15.3
At 31 December 2022 177.2 8.4 382.6 12.1 53.4 633.7
depreciation o “ -
At 1 .January 2022 (31.3) (3.4) (174.2) (1.0) - (209.9)
Charge for the year {(8.7) {0.8) (33.5) (1.1) - (43.9)
Transfers {0.5) - 3.8 (3.3) - -
Disposals Q0.1 0.1 3.3 - - 3.5
Exchange adjustments (1.5) (0.1} (7.5} (0.3) - (9.4)
Impairment (0.8) - (5.9) - - {6.7)
At 31 December 2022 42.7) (4.0) {214.0} (5.7) - (266.4)
Net book value -
At 31 December 2022 134.5 4.4 168.6 6.4 53.4 367.3
Plant, Assets
Land & Leasehold Machinery Fixtures & Under
Buildings  Improvement & Vehicles Fittings Construction Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2021 158.1 7.8 361.0 8.3 24.3 560.5
Remeasurement - - 0.3 - - 0.3
Revaluation 15.2 - - - - 15.2
Additions 11.5 0.3 10.0 4.6 15.9 42.3
Transfers 0.2 - 8.4 0.2 {(5.0) 38
Disposals (2.1) - (10.2) 1.9 - {14.2)
Exchange adjustments (2.1) (0.6} (12.2) (0.5) {0.86) (16.0)
At 31 December 2021 1818 7.5 357.3 10.7 346 5919
depreciation o o N )
At 1 January 2021 (26.8) (2.9} (156.0) (1.9) - (187.6)
Charge for the year (8.4) (0.6) (37.5) (1.3) - (47.8)
Disposals 2.1 - 8.9 1.8 - 13.8
Exchange adjustments 1.8 0.1 9.4 0.4 - 11.7
At 31 December 2021~ (31.3) (3.4) (174.2) (1.0) - {209.9)
Net baok value ' o o
At 31 December 2021 1505 41 183.1 9.7 34.6 382.0
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With effect from 1 January 2017, the Group's freehold land and buildings have been stated at their revalued
amaunis, being their fair value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses. The fair value measurement of the Group's freehold land and buildings as
at 31 December 2022 was performed by an independent valuer, not related o the Group. The directors have
assessed that there has been no material change as a result of this vailuation.

At 31 Decamber 2022, had the freehald land and buildings been carried at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impalrment losses, their carrying amount would have been £113.2 million
(2021; £120.4 million),

The revaluation surplus as at 31 December 2022 is £21.2 million, or £17.1 million net of tax (2021: £30.1
million; £23.8 miilion, net of tax).

Included in the additions above are additions relating to right-of-use assets as follows:

2022 2021

£m £m

Land and buildings - 7.5
Piant, machinery and vehicles 1.2 5.3
1.2 12.8

Included in the depreciation charge above are charges relating to right-of-use assets as follows:

2022 2021
£m £m
Land and buildings 4.5 44
Plant, machinery and vehicles 5.4 5.3
9.9 9.7
Included in the net carrying value above are right-of-use assets as follows;
2022 2021
Em £m
Land and huildings 17.6 20.7
Plant, machinery and vehicles 12.5 15.0
30.1 35.7
Cashflows relating to leases are as follows:
2022 2021
£m £m
Cash outfiow relating to interest payments 1.4 17
Cash outflow pertaining to principal repayments 9.1 9.7
Total cash outflow 10.5 114
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12 Investments

Details of Group undertakings

At 31 December 2022 all the subsidiaries were indirectly wholly owned, via ordinary shares, except where
indicated.

Subhsidiary Country of Registered address Activity
incorporation and
Operation
UMV Global Foads Company Limited ™7 England s} Holding Company
United Biscuits Topco Limited Zngland % Holding Company
StarBrands North America Inc North America 10 Bank Street, White Plains NY 10606 Biscult manufacturer
StarBrands Canada Inc Canada 10 Bank Street, White Plains NY 10606 Trading Company
DeMets Candy Company inc North America 30 Buxton Farm Road, Stamford, Darmant company
Connecticut
United Biscuits Bondca Limited England **) Holding Company
United Biscuits VLNGo Limited England **) Holding Company
United Biscuits Holdco Limiled England *" Holding Company
United Biscuits Holdco 2 Limited England **) Holding Company
United Biscuits Bidco Limited England **) Holding Company
Regentrealm Limitaed England ** Halding Company
Finalrealm Limited England **) Hokling Corapany
United Biscuits (Holdings) Limited Scatland {***) Heolding Company
United Biscuits {Equity) Limited Cayman fslands 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Holding Company
Grand Cayman KY1-9005, Cayman
Islands
United Biscuits Group (Investments) Ltd  England ™) Holding Company
Deluxestar Limited England **" Holding Company
Solvecarp Limited England {*) Holding Company
Runecorp Limited England (**) Halding Company
Burlington Biscuits (Cayman) Ltd Cayman [slands 190 Elgin Avenue, Gearge Town, Holding Company
Grand Cayman KY1-9005, Cayman
Islands
United Biscuits Finance Ltd England **) Holding Company
UB Overseas Limited England ™ Helding Company
McVitie & Price Limited Scotfand **5 Holding Company
linited Biscuits {UK) Limited ©? Engtand ) Food manufacturer
PLDS Austratia Pty Ltd Australia RSM Australia, Level 13, 60 Trading Company
Castlereagh Street, Sydney, NSW 2000
UB Humber Limited England {**) Finance Company
UB Foods US Limited England (**) Finance Company
United Biscuits Dutchco BV Metherlands Westzijde 103, 1506GA Zaandam Holding Company
Koninkiijke Verkade NV Netherlands Westzijde 103, 15086GA Zaandam Biscuit manufacturer
United Biscuits France SAS France \Fjortfle de Martier, Vannerie, 44120 Biscuit manufacturer
ertou
PLDS Europe B.V. Netherlands Wastzijde 103, 1506GA Zaandam Trading Company
padis Spain S.L. Spain Travessera de Gracia, No 11, 5th floor, Trading Company
08021, Barcelona, Spain
PLDS Belgium SPRL Belgium Box 204, 86C, Avenue Du Port, 1000 Trading Company
Brussels
United Biscuits {Pensions Trustees) Lid  Scotland (***) Pension scheme frustee
campany
UB Investments Public Limited Company Scotland ** Helding Company
UB International Sales Ltd England {**} Holding Company
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Subslidiary

UB Snackfoods ireland Ltd

United Biscuits ltaly SRL

United Biscuits Gerrmany GmbH

UB Group Ltd
Ross Young's Heldings Ltd
United Biscuits Nigeria Ltd

Taiwan United Biscuits Food Company
Lirnitad

United Biscuits Cyprus Limited

United Biscuits Private Ltd

A&P Foods Limited
United Biscuits Sverige AB

United Biscuits Trading (Shanghai) Co
Limited PR China

The Jacob's Bakery
EIg()iis (UK} Limited (formerly UB Snacks
1

UB {Biscuits) Lid

Young's Chifled Foods Ltd
UB Bridgend Three Ltd

UB Bridgend Four Ltd

Glory Alilance Investmant Lid

The Derwent Valley Group Lid
Tian Propertties Ltd

Derwent Valiey Foods Lid
Darwent Valley (Sales) Lid

The Quality of Life (NE) Ltd

The Quality of Life Ltd

Sisterson Foods Ltd
Anglo-Oriental Foods Lid

The Ultimate Snack Food Company ktd
UB Investmants (Netherlands) BV
United Biscuits Group Ltd

UB Holdings Ltd

McVitie's Ltd

Country of
incorporation and
Operation

Ireland

[taly

Germany

Scotland
England
Nigeria

Taiwan
Cyprus

india

Nigeria
Sweden
China

England
England

England
England
England
England
BVI

England
Nigeria

England
England
England
England
England
England
England
Nethertands
Scotland
Scotland
England

Registered address

Exchange Place
International Financial Services Centre,
Dublin 1, DO1 X8H2

Viale Andrea Dorla 48/A, Cap 20124,
Milan

clo BDO AG
Wirschaftsprifungsgesellschaft,
Landaubogen 10, 81373 Munchen

(kl‘.l')

")

No. 70, Adetokunbe Ademaola Street,
Victaria Island, Lagos

27F., No.8, Songgao Rd., Xinyi Dist.,
Taipei City 116, Taiwan (R.0.C}

Soyrou Kyprianou 20, Chapo Central,
3rd Floor, PC 1075, Nicosia

S-15A, 2nd Floor, Vasant Square Mall,
Packet V, Sector B, Vasant Kunj, New
Delhi 110070

No. 7, Henry Carr Street, lkeja, Lagos
PO Box 16285, 10325 Stackholm

Raem 201, Building No. 7, 1428 Ting
Wei Road, Jinshan District, Shanghai

|
(**)

)

)

"

**)

OMC Chambers, PO Box 3152, Road
Town, Tartola

*

76/94, Abecokuta Expressway, Agege,
Bopemu, Lagos

1

M

*1

"

-

9

9

Westzijde 103, 1506GA Zaandam
(1‘-*)

()

7

Activity

Trading Company

Trading Company
Trading Company
Holding Company

Holding Company
Trading company

Traging company

Halding company

Biscuit manufacturer

Biscult manufacturer

Trading company
Trading cempany

Dormant company
Dormant company

Dormant company
Dormant company
Dormant company
Darmant cempany
Dormant company

Darmant campany
Dormant company

Dormant campany
Dormant company
Dormant company
Trading company

Dormant company
Dormant carmpany
Dormant company
Darmant company
Darmant campany
Dormant company
Holding Company
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Subsidiary

KP Foods Ltd

Meredith & Drew Ltd

U8B York Ltd

United Biscuits (L.ands) Ltd
Unitad Biscuifs (l.easing) Ltd
Watts Countrymade Foods Ltd
King Harry Foods Ltd

UB Securities (UK) Ltd

Cookie Kitchen Ltd

Moo-Cow Bakeries Lid

UB Frozen Foods Ltd

B Fox Ltd

United Biscuits {(Agriculiure) Lid
United Biscuits {Propertiss) Lid
McFarlane Lang & Co Lid
William Crawford & Sons Lid
Kenyan Son & Craven Ltd
Peek, Frean & Co Ltd

Carr's of Carlisle Lid

UB Snack Foaods Ltd

UB Ltd

MBT Frozen Foods Lid

King Frost Ltd

Ross Young’s International Ltd
Phileas Fogg Ltd

The Monlco in Piccadilly Ltd
UB Kitchens Ltd

The Jacob's Biscuit Company
Humber Bridge Motors Ltd

Moray Freazing & Cold Starage
Company I.id

Chiltonian Ltd
Hills Road 5 Ltd
Forbas Simmers Ltd

1

Country of
incorporation and
Operation

England
England
England
Scotland
Scotiand
Engtand
England
England
England
England
Scotland
England
England
Scotland
Scotland
Scofland
£ngland
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
Engtand
England
England
England
Scotiand

England
England
Scotland

Registered address

")
")
!
(=)
()
&
9
)
"
"
*)
)
)
(ik*)
(+4)
(*ﬁx)
(**)
™
!
)
"
9
™
™M
"
)
)
-
]
(=
I
7
(=)

UMV Global Foods Company Limited is directly owned by the company.

(*) Companies which are obligors under the Senior Facilities Agreement.

{(**) The registered address of all companies Incorporated in England and Wales is Building 3 Chiswick Park, 566
Chiswick High Road, Chiswick, W4 5YA,

(***) The registered address of all companies incorperated in Scotland is 50 Lothian Road, Festival Square, Edinburgh

EH4 9BY.

Activity

Dormant company
Darmarit campany
Dormant company
Deormant company
Dormant company
Dormant company
Ocrmant company
Dormant company
Oormant company
Dormant company
Dormant company
Bormant company
Dormant company
Dormant company
Dormant company
Dormant company
Daormant company
Darmant company
Dormant company
Dormant company
Darmant company
Dormant company
Dormant company
Dormant company
Dormant company
Dormant company
Dormant company
Dormant company
Dormant company
Dormant company

Dormant company
Dormant company
Dormant company
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13 Inventories

2022 2021
£m
£m
Raw materials and consumables 36.8 30.2
Work in progress 4.6 3.3
Finished goods 37.6 34.3
T 700 618

There is no materlal difference between the replacement cost and historical cost of inventorles.

Raw materials and consumables at 31 December 2022 included £nil {2021: £nil) in respect of consignment
stock.

Inventories recognised as an expense during the year amounted to £631.7 million (2021: £583.0 million).
The amount of inventories written down and recognised as an expense within operating profit during the year
was £2.7 miliion (2021: £2.6 million).

14 Trade and other receivables

2022 2021

£m £m
Trade receivablesg 78.4 95.1
Other receivables 18.4 10.1
Prepayments 28.9 19.3
Due from related parties 50.5 37.0
Other taxes and social security receivable 2.1 3.4
179.3 164.9

Trade receivables are stated net of allowances for bad and doubtful debts of £4.2 million {2021: £3.1 million).
The amount of receivables written down and recognised as an expense within operating profit during the year
was £0.7 million {2021: £0.3m).

Trade and other receivables are all expected to be settled within one year. Trade receivables are non-interest
bearing and represent an average of 21 days sales (2021: 25 days). The directors consider that the carrying
ameunt of trade and cther receivables approximates to their fair value.

Detaifs of the Group's credit risk are set out in Note 18 {c).
Transfer of financial assets

During 2017, the Group entered into a receivables financing facility with a third-party bank in which the Group
sells qualifying trade debtors to the bank. The facility had a 5 year term. Accordingly, the facility was renewed
on 28" January 2022 for a further five year term. At year-end, the total trade debtors sold amounted to £111.4
million (2021: £110.9 million) for immediate cash proceeds of £100.3 million (2021: £99.8 million}, received on a
non-recourse basis, with a further £11.1 mitlion (2021: £11.1 million) to be received on collection from the
customer. The Group has retained credit risk on 5% of the balance transferred. Accordingly, the Group
caontinues to recognise the full carrying amount of the debtors on which credit risk has been retained and has
recognised a corresponding liability to the third-party bank for amounts that would be payable in the event of
non-coltection together with the fair value of the guarantee provided.
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At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of trade debtors that have been transferred but have
not been derecoghised amounted to £5.8 million (2021: £5.5 miliion), and the carrying amount of the
associated liabilities is £5.6 million (2021: £5.5 million).

£11.1 miition (2021: £11.1 million) of qualifying trade debtors remains on the balance sheet as only 80%
{2021: 80%) is eligible for de-recognition.

15 Cash and cash equivalents

2022 2621

£m £m

Cash in hand - 0.1
Cash in bank dswr o 2081
191.7 203.2

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The fair value of cash and
cash equivalents at 31 December 2022 was £191.7 million (2021: £203.2 millicn).

16 Trade and other payables

2022 2021

Em £m

Trade payables 303.0 270.7

Employee-related payables 33.2 33.0

Accruals 43.5 39.1

Due to other related parties - 10.0
Total _ 379.7 352.8

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing, unsecured and are settled in accardance with contractual
payment terms. The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair
value.

Employee-related payables includes other taxes and social security costs of £8.2 million (2021: £6.0 million).
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2022 2021
£m £m
Current
Senior facilities 4.9 579.3
Lease liabililies 8.8 8.9
Other liabllities 2.8 2.8
Otnher borrowings 4.4 45
20.7 585.5
Non-current
Senior facilities 584.2 -
l.ease liabilities 21.0 28.4
Other fiabilities 4.2 7.0
619.4 35.4

Senior Facilities

To finance its acquisition by Yildiz Holding, the Group entered into a Senior Facilities Agreement in
November 2014. This was subsequently refinanced in August 2017, comprising Fagility A1 of £575.0m and a
Revolving Credit Facility of £75.0m, with repayment due by August 2022,

In January 2022, the Group refinanced, repalid this facility and entered into the following:

* a new Senjor Facilities Agreement with a syndicate of banks. The fadilities are unsecured and
comprise a Term Facility of £300 million and a Revolving Facility of £100 miliion. Repayment is due
five years from the date of the Agreement.

* a US private placement camprising a £300m Note Purchase Agreement. These Notes are unsecured
with a 12-year duration at a fixed rate of 2.64% and ranks pari passu with the senior facilities.

Both the Senior Facilities Agreement and the Note Purchase Agreement require, as a financial covenant, the
adherence to a maximum leverage ratio {defined as Net Debt to EBITDA),

Net debt comprises the senijor facilities, the Note Purchase Agreement, finance lease obligations and other
loans less cash and cash equivalents. At the end of 2022 the net debt outstanding was £448.4 million (2021:
£427.7 million).

Details of the senior facilities amounts cutstanding as at 31 December 2022 are set out below:
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Amortised
2022 Debt Principal Interest % Type Maturity
£m £m
Current
Interest accrual 4.9 4.9
Non-current
Note purchase
agreemant 300.0 300.0 Fixed 2.64 Buliet 31 January 2034
Term Loan 2942 ~300.0 SONIA +2.58 Bullet 25 January 2027
Total Term Loans 5891 504.9
Amortised
2021 Debt Principal interest % Type Maturity
£m £m
Current
Interest accrual 5.1 5.1
Non-current
Term Loan A1 574.2 575.0 LIBOR + 2.65 Bullet 30 August 2022
Total Term Loans 578.3 5801

Lease liabilities

The Company has leases for the offices, factories, warehouses and various vehicles forklifts and trallers.
With the exception of shori-lerm leases and leases of low-value underlying assets, each lease is reflected on
the bafance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease fiability. Variable lease payments which do not depend
on an index or a rate (such as leass payments based on a percentage of Group sales) are excluded from the
initial measurement of the lease liability and asset. The Group classifies its right-of-use assets in a consistent
manner ta its praperty, plant and equipment (see Note 11).

Each lease generally imposeas a restriction that, uniess there is a contractual right for the Company to sublet
the asset to another party, the right-of-use asset can only be used by the Company. Leases are aither non-
cancellable or may only be cancelled by incurring a substantive termination fes. Some leases contain an
option to purchase the underlying leased asset outright at the end of the lease, or ta extend the lease for a
further term. The Company Is prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying leased assets as security.
For leases over premises the Group must keep those properties in a good state of repair and return the
vroperties in their original condition at the end of the lease. Further, the Company must insure items of
property, plant and equipment and incur maintenance fees on such items in accordance with the lease
contracts.

The lease liabilities are secured by the related underlying assets. Future minimum lease payments at
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 were as follows:
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Minimum lease payments due
Within1 1-2years 2-3 years 3-4years 4-5years After §

year years Total
£m £m £m £fm £m £fm £m
31 December 2022
| rAse payments 9.8 9.6 6.9 3.9 21 0.1 324
Finance charges {1.2) (0.8) (0.5) {0.2) (0.1) - (2.8)
Net present values 86 8.8 6.4 3.7 20 04 29.6

Minimum lease payments due
Within 1 1-2 years 2-3years 3-4years 4-5years After 5

year years Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
31 Decermber 2021
Lease payments 10.4 9.5 8.3 6.9 3.8 25 41.5
Finance charges {1.5) (1.1) (0.8) {0.5) (0.2} (0.1 (4.2}
Net present values 8.9 8.4 7.5 6.4 3.7 2.4 3r.3

Lease payments not recognised as a liability

The company has elected not to recegnise a lease liability for short term leases (leasas with an expected
tarm of 12 months or less) or for leases of low value assets. Paymenis made under such leases are
expensed on a straight-ine basis. In addition, certain variable lease payments are not permitted o be
recognised as lease liabilities and are expensed as incurred.

The expense relating to payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability is as follows:

2022 2021

£m £m

Shert-term leases 1.0 06
1.0 0.6

Variable lease payments expensed on the basis that they are not recognised as a lease liability include
rentals based on revenue from the use of the underlying assel and excess use charges on office equipment.
Variable payment terms are used for a variety of reasons, including minimising costs for iT equipment with
infrequent use. Variable lease payments are expensed in the period they are incurred.

Revolving Credit Facility of £400 million {2021: £75 million)

The Group has access to a £100 million (2021 £75 million) Revolving Credit Facility under the Senior
Faciliies Agreement entered into by UMV Global Faods Campany Limiled in January 2022. This facility may
be used for general corporate purpasas to finance working capital requirements, to refinance indebtedness
of the Group and to pay associated fees, costs and expenses. The facility allows for revolving advanrces, the
provision of ancillary facilities to cover the day to day banking requirements of subsidiary companies, and the
issuance of lefiers of credit and bank guarantees up to an aggregate amount of £100 million (2021: £75
million) outstanding at any time, Each advance made under the revoiving facility must be repaid on the last
day of the interest period relating to it, although amounts are available to be re-borrowed immediately,
subject to the maximum limit available under the facility.
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At 31 December 2022, and following the refinancing of the Senior Facilities agreement during the year, no
amount (2021: £13.0 miliion} of the Revolving Credit Facility had been arranged as ancillary facilities under
the revolving facility.

In addition to the amounts ouflined above, there were bank guaraniees outstanding of £0.8 million at
31 December 2022 (2021; £1.0 millian).

The Senior Facilities Agreement requires the Group to comply with certain financial covenants on a semi-
annual basis. The financial covenant requires the adharence to a maximum leverage ratio (defined as Net
Debt to EBITDA). The Group complied with its financial covenants tests during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

Capital management

The Group's cohjectives when managing capital are to maximise shareholder value while safeguarding the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The Group intends to continue proactively managing its
capital structure whilst maintaining flexibility to take advantage of opportunities, which arise, to grow its
business.

Total capital is calculated as total equity, as shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus net debt. Net debt
is calculated as total borrowings, as shown in the consolidated balance sheet, {ess cash and cash
equivalents. The loan from a fellow subsidiary, discussad in Note 23, is excluded from the Graup’s definition
of net debt since it will be setiled in the event of change of ownership of the business.

18 Financial instruments

Financial risk management

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks through its activities. Group Treasury identifies, evaluates
and hedges financial risks, working closely with the Group’s operating units, ensuring that critical controls
sxist and are operating correctly. Written palicies provide the framework for the managament of the Group's
financial risks, and provide specific guidance on areas such as foreign exchange risk.

All derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative
contract is entered info and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. At the period end, the fair value of
foreign exchange forward contracts is calculated using forward exchange market rates at the balance sheet
date. The fair value of interest rate swaps is determined by reference to market values for similar
instruments. The fair value of commodity hedges is determined by reference to the market values of the
commodities traded on the London International Financial Futures Exchange (“LIFFE™) and Marché & Terme
International de France (MATIF) at the balance sheet date.

Fair values

Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Greup's financial
instruments that are carried in the financial statements by currency.
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2022

Financial assets -
amortised cost

Cash and short-ferm
deposits

Trade receivables

Cther receivables
Due from related parties

Derivative assets
Cash flow hedges:
Foreign currency forwards

Fair value through P&L
instruments:

Interest rate swaps

Foreign currency forwards

Of which:
Current assets
Non-current assets

Financial liabilities -
amortised cost

Trade payables
Other payables

Amaunts due to fellow
group company

Loans and borrowings

Derivative
Ifabllities

Cash flow hedges:
Foreign currency forwards

FV through P&L
instruments:

Foreign currency forwards
Commuodity hedge

Of which:
Current liabilities
Nen-current liabilities

Carrying

Value  Fair Value usD EURO GBP QOther
£m £m £m £m £m £m
191.7 1491.7 21.5 23.1 132.0 15.1
78.4 78.4 26.4 i8.8 24.8 8.6
18.4 18.4 0.6 2.5 135 1.8
50.5 0.5 - - 50.5 -
339.0 339.0 48.5 44 2 220.8 255
3.1 3.1 1.7 1.4 - -
4,0 4.0 - - 4.0 -
0.4 04 0.4 - B
7.5 7.5 2.1 1.4 4.0 -
7.5 7.5
7.5 7.5
303.0 303.0 55.9 44 .4 191.0 1.7
43.5 435 2.0 8.4 23.2 3.9
263.9 263.9 27.4 - 235.9 0.6
640.1 640.1 1.6 0.9 633.0 4.6
1,250.5 1,250.5 86.9 53.7 1,083.1 26.8
1.4 1.4 1.3 - - 0.1
1.1 1.1 0.3 0.8 -
0.6 0.6 - - 0.6 -
3.1 3.1 1.6 0.8 0.6 0.1
3.1 3.1
3.1 3.1
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Carrying
2021 Value Fair Value UshD EURO GBP Other
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Financial assets -
amortised cost
Cash and shori-term
deposits 203.2 203.2 23.8 25.7 137.4 16.3
Trade receivables a85.1 95.1 23.1 23.1 36.3 12.6
Other receivablas 10.1 10.1 0.3 1.4 8.7 1.7
Due from related
parties o 37.0 37.0 - - - 370 -

345.4 7 345.4 47,2 502 2174 30.6

Derivative assets

Commodity swaps 2.3 23 - - 2.3 -
Cash flow hedges

Foreigh currency

forwards 1.0 10 0.5 0.1 - 0.4
3.3 3.3 0.5 0.1 2.3 0.4
Of which: o o
Currenf assets 3.3 3.3
Non-current assets ) - o
33 33
Financial liabilities -
amotrtised cost
Trade payables 270.7 270.7 23.4 27.4 214.7 5.2
Other payables 39.1 38,1 1.3 8.3 19.5 10.0
Amounts due fo fellow
group company 257.3 257.3 22.8 - 234.0 0.5
Loans and borrowings 630.9 630.9 1.5 1.5 623.0 4.9
1,198.0 1,188.0 49.0 37.2 1,091.2 20.6
Derivative liabilities
Cash flow hedges
Foreign currency
forwards 0.3 0.3 0.1 0.2 - -
Gther:
Foreign currency
forwards 0.3 0.3 - 0.3 - -
06 0.6 01 05 - -
Of which: ' o o
Current liabilities 0.6 0.6
Non-current liabilities - -
0.6 06
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The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with various counterparties, principally financial
institutions with investment grade credit ratings. Derivatives valued using valuation techniques with markst
observable inputs are mainly interest rate swaps, foreign exchange forward confracts and commodity
forward contracts and these are level 2 fair value estimates. The maost frequently applied valuation
techniques include forward pricing and swap models, using present value calculations. The models
incorporate various inpute including foreign exchangs spot and forward rates, inferest rafe cnurves and
farward rate curves of the underlying commodity. The credit quality of the counterparties and the impact of
own credit risk are considered and adjusted for when deemed necessary. The changes in counterparty and
own credit risk had nc material effect on the hedge effectiveness assessment for derivatives designated in
hedge relationships and other financial instruments recognised as fair value.

There are no material differences between fair value and book value on any other financial instruments
except for loans and borrowings.

Fair value hierarchy

In accordance with IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, financial instruments which are carried at fair value in
the balance sheet are analysed as level 1, 2, or 3. The Group classified all derivatives carried at fair value as
fevel 2 financial instruments, as their fair value is determined based on techniques for which all inputs which
have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly. The freehold
land and buildings fair value measurements are also level 2 as they are based on market price indices and
actual observable transactions of similar assets.

a) Forelgn exchange risk

Foreign currency risk arises from future commercial and financing transactions, recognising assets and
liahilities denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of the Group entity undertaking the
transaction as well as from net investmants in overseas entities. The Group operales internationally and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various cuirency exposures primarily with respect to the US
doflar, the Euro, the Canadian dollar and the Australian dollar.

The Group's foreign axchange risk management policy is to hedge a proportion of its forecast net currency
exposure. Group Treasury s responsible far managing foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial
and financing transactions and recognised assets and liabilities usually by use of forward contracts,

The Group has a number of cverseas subsidiaries whose net assets are subject to currency translation risk.
The Group borrows in local currencies where appropriate to minimise the impact of this risk on the balance
sheet.

Group policy requires Group companies to manage their foreign exchange risk against their functional
cutrency. Where such exposure is material to the Group as a whole, then Graup companies are required to
hedge their foreign exchange exposure with Group Treasury. Group Treasury reviews these exposure
reports on a regular basis. To manage foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions and
recognised assets and llabilities, entities in the Group use forward contracts, transacted by Group Treasury.

67



UMV GLOBAL FOODS HOLDING COMPANY LTD Consolidated Financial Statemenis

18 Financial instruments (continued)

Cash flow hedges

At 31 Decomber 2022, the Group held a number of forward foreign exchange contracts designated as
hedges of highly probable forecast transactions. Farward foreign exchange contracts were accounted for as
cash flow hedges. The forward conftracts are taken out with up to twelve maonth maturity dates, at regular
intervals throughout the year., Gains and losses recognised n other comprehensive income are included in
the hedging reserve and will be released to the income statement at various dates within one year of the

balance shest date.

2022 Commitged
autstanding Average Average
FX confracts Rates Rates
£m usp EUR
Euro 51.9 - 1.14
US Dcliar 26.5 1.23 -
Qther currencies 17.6 - -
96,0
2021
£m usD EUR
Eurc 32.7 - 1.16
Us Daollar 32.8 1.35 -
Other currencies 13.0 - -
78.5

Sensitivity analysis

Average
Rates

EUR/USD

1,06

EUR/USD

1.18

Average
Rates

AUD

1.79

AUD

1.83

The table below presents a sensitivity analysis of the changes in carrying values of the Group's monetary
assets and liabilities to reasonably possible weakening in sterling of market rates of foreign exchange.

Impact on the income
statement arising from:

Impact on reserves
arising from:

10% 10% 10% 10%
weakening weakening weakening weakening
against US against against US agalnst

Dolar Euro Doliar Euro
2022 £m £m £m £m
Cash and short-term depaosits 2.4 2.8 - -
Trade receivables 2.9 2.1 - -
Trade payables 6.2 4.8 - -
Loan and borrowings - 0.1 - -
Total 11.5 9.7 - -
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Impact on the income

impact on reserves arising

statement arising from: from:

10% 10% 10%
weakening weakening weakening 10%
against US against against US weakening
Dollar Euro Dollar against kuro
2021 £m Em £m £m
Cash and short-term deposits 2.6 2.9 - ' -
Trade receivables 26 26 - -
Trade payables __(28) (3.0) - -
Totai 2.6 25 - -

The table below presents a sensitivity analysis of the changes in carrying values of the Group’s monetary
assets and liabilities to reasonably possible strengthening in sterling in market rates of foreign exchange.

Impact on the income Impact on reserves arising

statement arising from: from:
10% 10%
strengthening 10% strengthening 10%
against US strengthening against US strengthening
Dollar  against Euro Dollar  against Euro
2022 £m £m £m £m
Cash and short-term deposits (2.0) 2.1 - -
Trade receivables (2.4) (1.7) - -
Trade payables (5.1) (4.0) - -
Loan and borrowings - (0. 1) - -
Total ) (9.5) (7.9) - ) -
Impact on the income Impact on reserves arising
statement arising from: from:
10% 10%
strengthening 10% strengthening 10%
against US strengthening against US sfrengthening
Dollar against Euro Dollar against Euro
2021 £m £m £m £m
Cash and short-term deposiis (2.2) (2.3) - -
Trade receivables (2.1 (2.1} - -
Trade payablas 2.1 2.5 - -
Total (2.2) (1.9) - _ T

Derivative confracts are used for hedging trade balances and future currency flows and therefore thers is no
impact due to currency maovement.
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{b) lnterest rate risk

The Graup is exposed to movements in interest rates from borrowings at variable rates. It is the Graup’s
policy to maintain an appropriate balance between fixed and floating interest rates on barrowings in order to
provide a level of certainty to interest expense and fo reduce the impact of interest rate fluctuations, To
achiave this, the Group entered into certain interest rate swaps that have the economic effect of converting
floating rate debt fo fixed rate debt, although from an accaunting perspective, they were reflected as floating
rate as there was no hedge relationship under {FRS 9.

The table below shows the effect of these on total fixed rate borrowings.

Effect of Effective

Fixed rate interest fixed rate  Swap rate
borrowings rate swaps borrowings Yo
2022 £m £m £m
Sterling — felfow group company 263.9 - - “
Sterling — third parties - 50.0 50.0 4,87
263.9 50,0 50.0

Effect of Effective

Fixed rate interest fixed rate  Swap rate
borrowings rate swaps borrowings %
2024 Em £m £m
Sterling — fellow group company 257.3 - - -
257.3 - -

The following table presents a sensitivity analysis of the changes in fair values of the Group's interast rate
swaps and changes to the interest expense on unhedged borrowings from a 1% movement in Interast rates.
The effect of a 1% movement in interest rates on cash or cash equivalent would not be material.

Increase in Decrease
interest  in inferest

rates rates
2022 2022
£m £m
Interest rate swaps (liabliities)’ 0.5 {0.5)
Unhedged borrawings' (2.5) 2.5
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Increase in  Decrease
interast ininterest

rates rates
2021 2021
£m £m
Unhedged borrowings' (6.3) 6.3

1 Impact on the income statement

{c} Credif risk

Credit risk may arise because of non-performance by a counterparty. The Group is exposed to credit risk on
its financial instruments including derivative assets and trade receivables. The Group's policy is for trade
receivables to be subject to credit limits, close monitoring and approval procedures. The Group’'s policy to
manage credit risk on derivative assets is to limit all derivative counterparties and cash transactions to high
credit quality financial institutions. The Group is not expesed to concentration of credit risk on its derivative
assets as these are spread over several financial institutions.

Due to its geographical base and the number and quality of customers, the Group is not exposed to material
cancentrations of credit risk on its frade receivables.

Exposure to Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure, therefare, the maximum
credit exposure at the reporting date was:

2022 2021
£m £m

Trade raceivables 78.4 95.1
Total 78.4 95.1

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by gecgraphic region was:

2022 2021

£m £m
UK 23.9 30.7
Europe 18.8 25.5
Rest of the World 35.7 38.9
Total 78.4 951

71



UMV GLOBAL FOODS HOLDING COMPANY LTD

Consaolidated Financial Statements

18 Financial instruments (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables af the reporting date was:

Not past due or impaired

Past due 0-30 days but not impaired

Past due more than 30 days but not impaired
Individually impaired

Total

2022 2021
£m £m
384 52.7
243 24.6
19.8 20.9
(4.2) (3.1)
784 95.1

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as

follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year
On acquisition

Charge for the year

Unused amounts

Foreign axchange

Total

2022 2021
£m £m
3.1 2.7
0.7 0.3
04 -

0.1
4.2 3.1

Based on the historic trend and expected performance of its customers, the Group believes that the above

allowance for doubtful receivables sufficiently covers the risk of defauit.

The charge for the year of £0.7 million (2021: £0.3 million) reflects the change in credit risk assessment
arising from the change in ageing in the period. The Group has no collateral in this respect.

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when a company enccunters difficulties to meet commitments associated with liabilities
and other payment obligations. Such risk may result from inadeguate market depth or disruption or

refinancing problems.

The Group's objective is to manage liquidity risk through the availability of committed credit facilities and
compliance with related financial covenants and by maintaining sufficient cash to meet obligations as they

fall due.
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Cantractual maturities

Details of the contractual maturities and associated undiscounted value at maturity of external borrowings,
including estimated interest payments, are set out below:

2022

Within one year or on demand
Between one and two years
Between two and three years
Between three and four years
Between four and five years
After five years

2021

Within one year or on demand
Between one and two years
Between two and three years
Between three and four years
Between four and five years
After five years

External Trade Derivative
borrowings Payables liabilities Total
£m £m £m £m
20.7 303.0 3.1 326.8
11.6 - - 11.8
7.8 - - 7.8
3.8 - - 38
3021 - - 302.1
300.1 - - 300.1
645.9 303.G 3.1 852.0
External Trade Derivative
borrowings Payables liabilities Total
£m £m £m £m
586.3 270.7 0.6 867.6
11.2 - - 1.2
10.4 - - 10.4
7.8 - - 7.8
3.7 - - 3.7
24 - - 2.4
631.8 270.7 0.6 903.1

Details of the contractual maturities and associated value at maturity of the feliow group company loan are
set out below:

Parent
company
loan

£m
2022

8% Interest due 2034* 3 590.8
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Parent
company
loan

£m
2021

8% Interest due 2023 ‘ 633.4

* During Quarter 1 2022, the maturity of this loan was extended from 2023 to 2034.

The following tables indicate the periods in which the cash flows associated with derivatives that are cash
flow hedges are expected to occur:

Interest rate swaps Farward exchange contracts

2022 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
£m £m £m £m
Within one year or on demand 1.8 - 3.5 3.1
Between one and two years 1.5 - - -
More than two years 0.9 - - -
4.0 - 3.5 3.1

Interest rate swaps Forward exchange contracts

2021 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabtlities
£m £m £m £m
Within one year or on demand - - 1.0 0.3

Between one and two years - -
- 1.0 0.3

(e} Commodity risk

The Group's activities expose it to the risk of changes in commaodity prices. The Group's objective is to
minimise the impact of volatility in commodity prices and seeks fo caver its raw material requirements by
taking out forward cantracts to secure supplies at agreed prices.

Forward cover is taken in physical markets for periods of at [east three months and typically would not
exceed 24 months, although, in cerlain circumstances, this may be extended.

In the most volatile of the Group's commaodity markets, fluctuating prices are hedged through the use of
futures. Unrealised gains or losses at the yearend may not crystailise as they depend upon market
maovements between the year-end and the maturity dates of outstanding contracts. Providing a successful
hedge relationship can be demonstrated, gains or losses that da materialise are charged to the Group's
operating results when the raw ingredients which these contracts hedge are used. Contracts are settled
immediately.

From time to time the Group also uses financial derivatives to protect future raw material prices by taking out
options.

Cash flow hedges

The Group's cash flow hedges relate to commadity cantracts and forward foreign exchange contracts,

An aggregate gain of £4.0 million {2021: gain of £13.8 million) relating tc commodity and foreign exchange
contracts was recognised directly in other comprehensive income during the year ended 31 December 2022,
A gain of £20.0 million {2021: gain of 4.0 million) was transferred to the income statement in relation to cash
flow hedges of which a gain of £15.6 million (2021: gain of £6.4 million) related to commedity contracts and
was recognised in cost of goods sold and a gain of £4.4 million (2021: loss of £2.4 million) related to forward
foreign exchange contracts was recognised in operating profit.
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Changes in Habilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising fram financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows wili be, classifisd in the Group's consclidated cash flow statemeant as cash flows from

financing aclivities.

Non-cash movements

b1
Wy g @ -~
Sy g) 3 ‘g = -'g g g L]
£ © é’ 5 Hao b 8 28
g & £ - = st g 22 = @
g8 85 <5 583 88 3 83
2022 om i 8 g oBe =P < oo
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Senior facilitias and
other borrowings
(Note 17) 583.8 18.2 (0.1} 1.8 (0.2) - 603.5
Finance lease
obligations (Note 17) 37.3 (9.1 - - 1.4 - 29.6
Other liabllities (Mote
17 9.8 (2.8) - _ . . 70
Loans from related
parties (Naote 23) 257.3 (22.1) 2.8 - 20.9 5.0 263.9
Total liabilities from
financing activities 888.2 {15.8} 2.7 1.8 221 5.0 904.0
Non-gash movements
2
8 £ = c i
- © 0
= v ] = 3 o 0 3 T
a o = £ < = ® ¥ e 3]
o £ ] a B . ‘@ k] e o
£ G > .4 i @ 2 =t £
= £ § = o K = o a ‘7
2021 o e ™ og =1 v < OE )
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Senior facilities and
ather borrowings )
Nate17) 5829 (0.8) 0.2 1.4 0.1 - - - 583.8
Finance lease
obligations (Note17) 34.7 {0.4) - - 1.6 - - 1.4 37.3
Other liahilities (Note
17} 16.4 (2.8) - - - (3.8) ~ - 9.8
Loans from related
parties (Note 23) 248.2 {9.5) 0.1 - 18.3 - 2.2 - 257.3
Total liabilities from
financing activities 880.2 (13.5) 0.3 1.4 200 {3.8) 2.2 1.4 a8s.2

The cash flows from bank toans, loans from related parties and other borrowings make up the net amount of
proceeds from borrowings and repayments of borrowings in the cash flow siatement.
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At 1 January 2022
Income statement charge
Amounts Litilised

Foreign exchange

At 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2022
Current
Non-current

At 1 January 2021
Additions

income statement charge/(credit)

Amounts utilised
Faoreign exchange
At 31 December 2021

At 31 December 2021
Current
Non-gurrent

Provisions are recorded only where thera is a legal or construciive obligation.

Rationalisation Dilapidations Legal

Provisions Provision Provisions Total

£m £m £fm £m

213 57 1.0 28.0

273 - - 27.3
(39.1) - - {39.1)

0.3 - 0.3

9.8 5.7 1.0 16.5

9.8 - - 9.8

- 5.7 1.0 8.7

8.8 5.7 1.0 16.5

Rationalisation Dilapidations Legal

Provisions Provision Provisions Total
£m £m £m £m

8.9 1.8 1.0 11.7

- 57 - 5.7

28.5 (0.7 - 25.8
(13.7) (1.1) - {14.8)
(0.4} - - (0.4)

21.3 5.7 1.0 28.0

21.3 - 1.0 22.3

- 5.7 - 5.7

213 5.7 ) 1.0 28.0

Rationalisation provisions principatly comprise obligations in relatian to overhead reducticn and efficiency

programmes across the Group. The provision is expected to be utilised within the next year.

Dilapidations provisions relate to the UK leased properties. All [eases expire after more than one year.
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Share capital
Ordinary shares authorised, issued and fully paid

Ordinary shares of £1 Sterling sach

Number of
shares

1,200,000,002

Number of
shares £
At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 1,200,000,602 1,200,000,002
Share premium
91,465,229 91,465,228

At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021

The company has one class of ardinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.

Currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translatioh reserve is used {0 record exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2022 the balance on the reserve

amaounted to a loss of £50.8 million (2021: loss of £61.7 miilion).

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve records the portion af the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hadge
that is deemed to be effective. As at 31 December 2022 the balance an the reserve was a loss of £2.6 million

(2021: gain of £13.4 million).
Property revaluation reserves

The property revatuation reserve records the surplus arising over cost on the revaluation of freehold fand and

buildings. See Note 11,
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21 Retirement benefit liability

The Group's defined beneiit pension plans in the UK were closed to future accrual during the year. The plans
were originally final salary schemes and were converted to career average revalued earnings (CARE) in the
mid-2000's. The plans provide members with benefits in the form of a guaranteed level of pension payable
for life. The level of benefits provided depends on members’ length of service and their earnings. Pensions in
payment are increased annually in line with the retail price index (RP1).

The majority of benefit payments are from trustee-administered funds, however, there is also an unfunded
pension plan where the Group meets the benefit payment obligation as it falls due.

Trustees are appointed 1o operate the funded plans in accordance with their respective governing documents
and pensions law. The plans meet the legal requirement for member nominated trustee representation on the
trustee boards. The members of the trustee boards undertake regular training and development to ensure
that they are equipped apprapriately to fulfil their function as trustees. In addition, each trustee board has
appointad professional advisers fo provide the specialist expertise they need tc support them in the areas of
investment, funding, legal, covenant and administration. The trustee boards meet at teast four times a year to
conduct their business. The plans invest through invesiment managers appointed by the frustees in a broad
range of assets to support the security and funding of their pension chligations.

All of the Group’s defined benefit pians are closed to future accrual and membership of a defined cantribution
plan is available for employees.

The Group has unfunded arrangemernits as follows: additional UK past-retirement benefits for certain seniar
managers; post-retirement healthcare benefits for certain empicyees in the Netherlands, and employees in
France are entitled to a lump sum payment on retirement, indemnite de depart en retraite ("IDR").

The Group’s retirement benefit liabilities, camprised the following:

2022 2021
£m £m
UK
Pension — Funded
UBUK 159.6 180.5
Jacocb’s Bakery 17.5 12.0
Pension — Unfunded {19.0) (27.5)
158.1 165.0
IFRIC 14 adjustment for minimum funding requirement/asset ceiling {158.8) (236.3}
Total UK Schemes (1.5) {71.3)
France
IDR — Unfunded (1.9) {(2.5)
Natherlands
Past-retirement healthcare scheme — Unfunded {0.9) (1.1)
A&P Foods Nigeria
Pension scheme - Unfunded (0.8) (0.1)
Post-retirement benefit liability (5.1) (75.0)

The total amount relating to pensions recognised in operating profit for the year ended 31 December 2022
was £17.1 million (2021 £17.7 million), of which £10.7 million (2021: £10.0 million) related to defined
contribution plans. Following the closure of the defined benefit schemes during 2021, affected employeas
were able to join the Company's stakeholder scheme (defined contribution).
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The total amount relating to IDR recognised in cperating profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 was

£0.2 miltion {2021 £nil}.

The Netherjands post-retirement bhenefit healthcare scheme is closed to current employees, therefare no
annual service cost is charged in the income statement.

The asgete and liabilities of the achemes and the net pnstoratirement nhligations were:

At 31 December 2022

Assets with a quoted market price
Equities

Bonds

Hedge funds, currency and infrastructure
Cash

Assets not quoted in an active market
Praperty, infrastructure and hedge funds
Total market value of assets

Present value of scheme liabhilities
Surpius/(Deficit) in the scheme

Additional liability due to minimum funding
reguirements

Net Pension Deficit

At 31 December 2021

Assetfs with a quoted market price
Equities

Bonds

Hedge funds, currency and infrastructure
Cash

Assets hof quoted in an active market
Property, infrastructure and hedge funds
Total market value of assets

Present value of scheme liabilities
Surplus/(Deficit) in the scheme

Additional liability due to minimum funding
requirements

Net Pension Deficit

Pension IDR Healthcare A&P Foods Total
£m £m £m £m £m
216.8 - - - 216.8
111.1 - - - 111.14
734.4 - - - 734.4
132.4 - - - 132.4
403.8 - - - 4038
1,598.3 - - - 1,598.3
(1,440.2) (1.9) {0.9) (0.8) (1,443.8)
158.1 (1.9) (0.9) (0.8) 154.5
(159.6) - - - (159.6)
{1.5) (1.9) {0.9) {0.8) 5.1)
Pension IDR Healthcare A&P Foods Total
£m £m £m £m £m
377.9 - - - 377.9
281.3 - - - 291.3
326.6 - - - 326.6
109.6 - - - 109.6
1,332.7 - - - - 1.932.7
2,438.1 - - - 2,438.1
i (2,273.1) (2.5) (1.1 0.1} (2,276.8)
165.0 (2.5) (1.1 (0.1 161.3
(236.3) - - - (236.3)
(71.3) (2.5) (1.1 (0.1) {75.0}
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A&P

Pension IDR Healthcare Foods Total
2022 £m £m £m £m £m
Income statemant
Current service cost(” - {0.2) - ©.n {0.3)
Scheme administration costs (4.0 - - - (4.0
Company administration costs (2.4) ~ - - (2.4)
Included in operating profit {6.4) {0.2) - {0.1) (6.7)
Net interest expense {1.0) - - - (1.0)
Other finance income — pensions (1.0) - - - {1.0)
Statement of other comprehensive income
Return on plan asseis excluding amotints
included in interest expense (785.2) - - - (789.2)
Experience losses on scheme liabilities (40.8) - - - (40.8)
IFRIC 14 minimum funding adjustmarit 56.6 - - - 56.6
Efimination of pension surplus due to IFRIC 14 244 - - - 244
Actuarial losses due to changes in financial
assumptions 805.6 0.5 (0.1 (0.5) 805.5
Actuatrial gains due to changes in
demographic assumptions o 0.2 - - - 0.2
Remeasurement fosses recognised in the
statement of other comprehensive income 56.8 0.5 (0.1) (0.5) 58.7

The Group's schemes have not invested in any of the Group’s own financial instruments nor in propertias or

other assets used by the Group.

The amounts racognised in the consolidated income statement and in the consolidated statement of
camprehensive income in respect of defined benefit pensions and post-retirement healthcare are analysed

helow:
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A&P

Pension IDR Healthcare Foods Total
2021 £m £m £m £m £m
Income statement
Current service cost{1) (2.8) (0.2) - - (3.0)
Past service cost 1.0 - - - 1.0
Scheme adminislration costs (3.7) - - - {3.7)
Ccmpany administration costs (2.0) - - - (2.0)
Operating profit ) (7.5) (0.2} - - (7.7)
Net interest on adjustment in respect to
minimum funding requirement (1.7 - - - (1.7}
Net interest expense (0.1) - e - (0.1}
Other finance income — pensions ) {1.8) - o - {1.8)
Statement of other comprehensive
income
Return on plan assels excluding amounts
included in interest expense 838 - - - 83.8
Experience [osses on scheme liabilities 4.1 - - - 4.1
IFRIC 14 minimum funding adjustment 78.8 - - - 78.8
Elimination of pension surplus due to
IFRIC 14 (180.5) - - - (180.5)
Actuarial losses due to changes in
financial assumptions 617 0.9 - - 62.6
Actuarial gains due to changes in
demaographic assumptions 18.9 - - - 18.9
Remeasurement losses recognised in the
statement of other camprehensive income 66.8 0.9 - - 67.7

“) Costs are recognised in cost of goods sold, distribution and marketing expenses and
administrative expenses.

Valuation

general and

Valuations are prepared, at each balarice sheet date, by independent qualified actuaries using the projected
unit credit method. Where funded, scheme assets are stated at their market values at the respective balance
sheet dates and overall expected rates of return are established by applying forecasts 1o each category of

schemsa assets,

Key assumptions

{a) Pensions

2022

Yo

Rate of increase of pensions in payment 3.00
Discount rate 4.80
Inflation 3.25

2021

%
3.10
1.95
3.20
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The average life expectancy assumed for the UBUK plan for a current male pensioner aged 65 is 21.4 years
(2021: 21.3 years) and for a current female pensioner aged 65 is 23.3 years (2021: 23.3 years); for a future
male pensioner aged 65 in 2042 it is 22.4 years (2021: 22.3 years) and for a future ferale pensioner agad
65 in 2042 itis 24.5 years (2021: 24,5 years).

The weighted average duration of the schemes is approximately 15 years.

Acting on the advice of the Group's actuarles, future contiibutions payable are set at levels thal take account
of surpluses and deficits.

Contfributions of up to approximately £30.0 million per annum may be made to eliminate the deficit in the UK
defined benefit plans on a funding basis. The total contributions to the Company's defined benefit plans in
2023 are expected to be appraximately £20.0 million (2022: £30.0 million), following the closure of the
schemes o future accrual and the increased funding level.

{b) Past-refirement healthcare

2022 2021
0/0 O/o
Discount rate 3.10 0.30
Inflation 2,00 0.00
Rate of increase in healthcare costs 2.00 .00
(c¢) IDR
2022 2021
% %
Discount rate 3.50 0.90
Salary increase 3.00 2.50

Sensitivity Analysis
If the discount rate were to decrease by 0.1% without changing any other assumptions the total pension

defined benefit surplus would decrease by approximately £20.3 million (2021: £39.4 million increase to
defined benefit abligation).

If the inflation rate were to increase by 0.1% without changing any other assumptions the total pension
defined benefit surplus would decrease by approximately £14.6 million (2021: £28.4 million increase to
defined benefit abligation).
If the life expectancy were to increase by 1 year without changing any other assumptions the total pension
defined benesfit surplus would decrease by approximately £66.5 million (2021: £128.5 million increase to
defined benefit obligation).
If the discount rate were to increase by (0.1% without changing any other assumptions the total pension
defined benefit surplus would increase by approximately £19.7 million {2021: £38.8 million decrease to
defined benefit obligation).
If the inflation rate were to decrease by 0.1% without changing any cother assumptions the total pension
defined benefit surplus would increase by approximately £14.2 million (2021: £28.4 million decrease tfo
defined benefit obligation).
If the life expectancy were to decrease by 1 year without changing any other assumptions the total pension
defined benefit surplus would increase by approximately £66.3 million (2021: £127.5 million decrease to
defined benefit obligation).
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit pension abligations are analysed as follows:

Pension IDR Healthcare A&P Total
£m £m £m £m £m
As at 1 January 2022 22731 2.5 1.1 0.1 2,276.8
Current service cost - 0.2 - 0.1 0.3
Interest cost 41.4 - - - 414
Benefits paid (109.7) {0.4) {0.1) - (110.2)
Expearience losses on schame
liabilities 40.8 - - - 40.8
Actuarial l[osses due to changas in
financial assumptions {805.6) (0.5} 0.1 0.5 {805.5)
Actuarial gains due ta changes in
demographic assumptions Q.2 - - - 0.2
Foreign exchange - 0.1 (0.2) 0.1 -
As at 31 December 2022 1,440.2 1.9 0.9 0.8 1,443.8
Pension IDR Healthcare A&P Total
£m £m E£m £m £m
As at 1 Janhuary 2021 2,418.6 3.5 1.4 0.1 2,423.6
Current service cost 2.8 0.2 - - 3.0
Past sarvice cost {(1.0) - - - {1.0)
interest cost 28.4 - - - 28.4
Benefits paid (91.0) {0.2) (0.1) - {91.3)
Experience losses on scheme
liabifities (4.1) - - - (4.1}
Actuarial losses due to changes in
financial assumptions (61.7) (0.9) - - (62.6)
Actuarial gains due fo changes in
demographic assumptions (18.9) - - - (18.9)
Foreign exchange - (G.1) (0.2) - {0.3)
As at 31 December 2021 22731 2.5 1.1 0.1 2,276.8

The defined benefit obligation comprises £1,421.2 million {(2021: £2,245.6 million) arising from funded plans
and £22.6 millicn (2021: £31.2 million) from plans or arrangements that are unfunded.

Changes in the value of the defined benefit pension assets are analysad as follows:
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As at 1 January 2022

Interest income

Employer contributions

Benefits paid

Administration expenses

Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in interest income
As at 31 December 2022

As at 1 January 2021

Interest income

Employer contributions

Benefits paid

Administration expenses

Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in interest incomea
As at 31 December 2021

22 Financial commitments

Total
£m
2,438.1
44,6
17.4
(108.8)
(4.0}
(789.2)
1,598.3

Total
£m
2,385.3
28.3
34.7
{90.3)
{(3.7)
83.8

2,438.1

The Group's financial commitments in respect of retirement benefils are set out in Note 21. The Group's
financial commitments in respect of capital expenditure and commitments are summarised below.

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 the Group's financial commitments in respect of capital

expenditure are summarised below:

Caontracted capital expenditure

2022
£m
2.5

2021
£m
8.8

Future minimum commitments for praperty, plant and equipment under non-cancellable operating leases are

as follows:

Not {ater than one year
Later than one year but not later than five years

2022 2021
£m £m
1.0 1.2
1.6 0.5
2.6 1.7

Future minimum commitments for 2021 and 2022 solely to short-term leases which are exempt from IFRS

186.

The Senlor Facilities Agreement entered inte on 25 January 2022, and the Note Purchase Agreement
entered inta on 31st January 2022, both place ceriain restriclions on paying dividends and making other
capital distributions (including shareholder loan repayments) where the Group's leverage ratio is above a
certain tevel. Where leverage is below the relevant level, distributions of capital may be made provided that,
after giving effect to such payment, the leverage shall not be greater than the agreed level.
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23 Related party disclosures

Except as otherwise disclosed in these financial statements, there have been no transactions with related
parties, which were material either to the Group or the counterparty and which are required to be disclosed

under the pravisians of 1AS 24 "Related Party Disclosures”.
Amounts due to parent company
Amounts due by the Group to pladis | oods Limited and other related parties were as follows:

2022 2021
£m £m
Loan 88.3 87.8
Accrued interest L 175.6 169.7
263.9 257.3
The above loan bears interest at 8% per annum and is repayable in 2034,
Purchase and sales transactions
Transactions with related parties are listed below:
2022 2621
£m £m
Yildiz Holdings A.S. and its subsidiaries
Sales 5.1 1.4
Purchases 7.6 5.8
Ulker Biskuvi Sanayi ve Ticaret A.S. and its subsidiaries
Sales 18.7 13.9
Purchases 1.8 -

Receivables and payables

Transactions with related parties are listed below. With the exception of those noted below, these are non-

interest bearing and repayable on demand:

2022
£m

Yildiz Holdings A.S. and its subsidiaries
Receivable 15.8
Payable 34
pladis Foods Limited
Receivable 11.3
Ulicer Biskuvi Sanayi ve Ticaret A.S. and its subsidiaries
Receivable 4.9
Payable 1.1

2021
£m

4.1
2.7

11.3

4.3
0.4

85



UMV GLOBAL FOODS HOLDING COMPANY LTD Consolidated Financial Statements

23 Related party disclosures {continued)

Short-ferm employee benefits paid to key management personnel, including direclors, for the year ended
31 December 2022 fotalled £12.8 million {2021: £1t.4 millicn), which includes termination benefits of £nil
(2021: £nil).

Other

Shareholder fees totafiing £5.0 miftion (2021: £2.9 million) were payable by the Group to Yiidiz Holding A.S.
for the year ended 31 December 2022, These fees are payable in respect of the provision of corporate
governance services, including directors’ services,

24 Events after the balance sheet date

There were no post balance sheet events,

25 Ultimate parent company

in the directors' opinion, the Company's ultimate parent undertaking as at 31 December 2022 was Yildiz
Holding A.S., a company registered in Turkey. The ultimate controlling party is Mr Murat Ulker.

The immediate parent company is pladis Foods Limited, a company registered in England and Walas, United
Kingdom whose registered office is Building 3 Chiswick Park, 568 Chiswick High Road, Chiswick, W4 5YA.

26 Subsidiaries exempt from audit

The follawing UK subsidiaries have taken advantage of the audit exemption set out within section 479A of
the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Name Registration number
Regentrea'm Limitad 3885120
Runecorp Limited 3878056
Sabourne Limited 3805192
Solvecorp Limited 3876059
United Biscuits Bidco Limited 5057644
United Biscuits Bondco Limited 5957937
UB Group Limited SC064218
United Biscuits Holdco Limited 5857557
United Biscuits Holdeo 2 Limited 5957575
UB Qverseas Limited 1496587
United Biscuits Topco Limited 5857921
United Biscuits VENco Limited 595756
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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Income statement

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021

£m £m

Operating result before interest and tax 4 ) B
Interest receivable and other income 5 3.8 3.5
interest payable and similar expenses 6 (19.7} {(17.4)
Loss bhefore taxation {15.9) (1:;;
Tax on loss 7 - -
Loss for the financial year (15.9) (13.9}

All amounts relate to confinuing activities.

During the current and preceding year there have been no other comprehensive income other than those
recognised in the income statement and consequenily no separate statement of comprehensive income is

presented.
The notes on pages 91 - 84 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance sheet

As at 31 December 2022

Non-current assets

frveslinents

Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Amounts owed by group undertakings
Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Amgounts owed to group undertakings

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium
Accumulated loss

Total equity

Note 2022 2021
£m £m

8 1,281.56 1.261.5
12015 12015

36.0 47.1

36.0 47.1

1,327.5 13386

(231.8) (227.0)

© (231.8) (227.0)
1,095.7 1,111.6

9 1,200.0 1,200.0
9 91.5 91.5
(195.8) (179.9)

1095.7 1,111.6

The notes on pages 91 - 94 form an integral part of these financial statements.

The firancial sfatements of UMV Global Foads Holding Company Lid (registered number 092839015} on
pages 88 - 94 were approved by the Board and signed on its behalf on 27 April 2023,

Ahmed Salman Amin
Director
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Statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share Accumulated
Share Capital Premium Loss Total Equity
£m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2022 1,200.0 91.5 {179.9) 1,111.8
Lass for the financial year - - (15.9) (15.9)
At 31 December 2022 _ 1,200.0 95 (195.8) 1,095.7

For the year ended 31 Decembeyr 2021

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share Accumulated
Share Capital Premium Loss Total Equity
£m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2021 1,200.0 91.5 {166.0) 1.125.5
Loss for the financial year - - {13.9) (13.9)
At 31 December 2021 1,200.0 81.5 {175.8) 1,111.6

The ncotes on pages 91 - 84 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1 Authorisation of financial statements

The financial stataments of UMV Global Foods Holding Company Lid (the "Company”) on pages 88 to 94 for
the yvear ended 31 Decembar 2022 were authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 April 2023 and
the balance sheet was signed on the Board's behalf by Ahmed Salman Amin. The Company is a private
company fimited by shares, registered, incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales, United Kingdaom.
ls registered office is stated on page 18,

2 Accounting policies

Basis of accounting

The financial statements are prepared on the historicai cost basis of accounting and in accordance with
applicable UK accounting standards.

Accounting policies have been applied conslistently, other than where new policies have been adopted.

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 'Application of Financial Reporting

Reguirements’ issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Accordingly, these financial statements were
prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 161 'Reduced Disclasure Frameworic’ and the

Companies Act 2008,

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 101:

—

y the requirement {o disclose new accounting standards not yet effective;
) the requirement of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures;
)
}

N

3
4

the requirements of paragraphs 91 - 99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement;

the requiremenis of paragraphs 10(d), 38A — 38D, 111 and 134 - 136 of IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statemeants:

5) the requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows;

6) the requirements of paragraph 17 and 18A of JAS 24 Related Party Disclosures; and

7} the requirements of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered
into between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a party to the
fransactions ts wholly owned by such a member,

Where reguired, egquivalent disclosures are given in the consclidated financial statements,

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis of accounting. The principal accounting
policies adopted are set out below,

Significant accounting judgements, estimaies, and assumptions

The preparation of the Company's financial statements in conformity with FRS 101 requires the use of
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reporied expenses during the repotting periad. Although these estimates
are based on management's best knowledge of current events and actions, ullimately actual results may
differ from those estimates.

The key assumption concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance
sheet date that has a significant risk of causing material adiustment within the next financial year arises in
cannection with the recoverability of intercompany receivables. Management judgement is necessary in
assessing whether debtors are recoverable.

Investments

investments are stated at cost unless, in the opinion of the directors, there has besn a permanent diminution
in value, in which case an appropriate adjustment is made.
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets - initial recognition and measurement
The Company's financial assets are all classified as thase to be measured at amortised cost.

This classification depends on our busingss made! far managing the financial asset and the contractual
terms of the cash flows. At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at ils fair value plus, in
the case of a financial asset nol at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. All of the Company's financial assets (except cash) are
debt instruments that provide the Company with a contractual right to receive cash or another asset.

Financial assets - subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of the Company's financial assets {except cash) depends on the Company's
business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. Based on their
characteristics, the Company's financial assets are measured at amortised cost.

Assets measurad at amortised cost are thosa which are held to collect cash flows on the repayment of
pringipal or interest, A gain or loss on a financial asset recognised at amortised cost on de-recognition or
impairment is recognised in profit or loss. Any inlerest income is recognised within finance income using the
effective interest rate method,

Financial assets - impairment

There are no expected credit [osses on amounts owed by group undertakings.
interest receivahle and payable

interest is recognised as If accrues using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial instrument to
its net carrying amount,

3 Directors and employees

Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in Nate 6 1o the consclidated financial statements.
The Company has no employees,

4 Operating result before interest and tax

The auditors’ remuneration is bome by United Biscuits (UK) Limited. Refer to Note 6 of the Group financlal
statements for details. There is no recharge to the Company

5 Interest receivable and other income

2022 2021
£m Em
Interest receivable from a group undertaking o 38 35

nterest is receivable from UMV Global Foads Company Limited, the direct subsidiary of the Company.
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6 Interest payable and similar expenses

2022 2021
fm £m
Interest payable to parent company {19.7) {(17.4)

7 Tax on loss

The current tax credit on the loss before taxation for the years 2022 and 2021 is higher than the average rate

of corporation tax in the UK of 18.0% (2021: 19.0%). The differences are reconciled helow:

2022 2021
£m £m
Loss before taxation (15.9) (13.9)
Tax credit at UK statutory rate of 19.0% (2021:18.0%) (3.0 (2.6)
Group relieved for no consideration 3.0 2.8
Total tax credit - -
Refer to Note 9 of the group financial statements for details of changeas in tax rates.
8 Investments
£m
1,291.5

Cost and Net book value as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 20211

The Company holds 100% of UMV Global Foads Company Limited’s ordinary share capital.

A recoverability assessment of the net book value of investments, by reference to a discounted cash flow

analysis, has been performed. Refer to Note 10 of the group financial statements.

Refer to the Note 12 of the group financial statements for details of all indirect subsidiary companies.

93



UMV Global Foods Holding Company Ltd .
Parent Company Financial Statements

9 Called up share capital and share premium
Share capital
Ordinary shares Authorised, issued and fully paid

Number of

shares

Ordinary shares of £1 Sterling each 1,200,000,002

Number of

shares £

At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 1,200,000,002 1,200,000,002
Share premium

At 31 Dacember 2022 and 31 December 2021 61,465,229 91,465,229

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.

10 iInter-group cross-guarantee

The Company has cross-guaranteed the Group's Senior Facilites Agreement and NMNote Purchase
Agreement, which is held by UMY Global Foods Holding Company Ltd. The outstanding principal amount
under the two agreements as at 31 December 2022 was £600.0 million (2021: £575.0 million).

11 Events after the balance sheet date
There were na post balance sheet events.

12 Ultimate parent company

In the directars’ opinion, the Company's immediate parent undertaking is pladis Foods Limited, which is
incorporated in the UK and whose registered office is Building 3 Chiswick Park, 566 Chiswick High Road,
Chiswick, W4 5YA, England.

in the directors’ opinion, the Company's ultimate parent undertaking as at 31 December 2022 was Yildiz
Holding A.S., a company inceorporated in Turkey whose registered office is Kistkh Mahallesi Cesme Cikmazi
Sakak Na:6/1,34692, Uskudar/istanbu!, Turkey, The ultimate contralling party is Mr Murat Ulker.

The largest group in which the Company's financial statements are included is Yildiz Holding A.S. and the
smallest group is pladis Foods Limited. A copy of the consolidated financial statements of pladis Foods
Limited can be obtained from the company at the above address.
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